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“If you choose to sail upon the seas
of banking, build your bank as
you would your boat, with the strength
to sail safely through any storm.”
Jacob Safra (1891 – 1963)
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Financial Highlights

2017

2016

Consolidated income statements

US$ 000

US$ 000

Net interest income

147,076

136,762

Non-interest income

135,183

71,595

(127,537)

(106,350)

Operating income

154,722

102,007

Net income

114,950

58,491

12.31.2017

12.31.2016

US$ 000

US$ 000

Non-interest expenses

Consolidated balance sheets
Total assets

8,202,951

7,461,648

Investments

4,758,822

4,163,275

Loans

2,935,787

2,743,427

Deposits

6,647,445

6,166,711

805,573

670,330

12.31.2017

12.31.2016

US$ million

US$ million

20,639

16,413

2017

2016

Equity

Client assets
Total client assets

Ratios

%

%

Capital Ratio

15.9%

14.6%

Cost-income ratio

45.2%

51.0%

Note: Consolidated figures include the accounts of Safra National Bank of New York and its wholly owned subsidiaries Safra Securities LLC and
3050 Aventura Owner, LLC.
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Total Equity as of 12/31 (US$ million)

616

2014

643

2015

670

2016

805

2017

On-Balance Assets as of 12/31 (US$ million)

6,212

2014

6,681

2015

7,462

2016

8,203

2017

Total Client Assets as of 12/31 (US$ million)

13,497

2014

14,184

2015

16,413

2016

20,639

2017
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Year in Review
United States | New York | Hudson River

Year in Review

We have selected images of the great
waterways within the U.S. and Latin
America to illustrate our philosophy of
transparency, endurance and reliability
coupled with dynamic and continuing
flows of ideas.

This theme also brings to light the importance of connecting people from different cultures, working on different activities, and always striving to deliver excellent
service and the best environment for clients to prosper
with prudence. This is the longstanding philosophy of
the J. Safra Group for the past 175 years – to think
about clients all of the time and to take care of their
wealth as we would our own; to nurture the relationship
with clients and their families for generations to come;
and to maintain the long-term perspective to be able to
persevere throughout different economic cycles.
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Year in Review

The Bank remains a solid player in the international
private banking space, maintaining consistent results
year over year. We continue to thrive in this increasingly challenging environment where there are growing
uncertainties in the global economy, and to devote considerable resources to overcoming these challenges
and to upholding the confidence and invaluable trust
of our clients.
The Bank has experienced a steady growth in client
assets over many years, and especially over the past
three years where it increased an additional $7.1 billion
in total client assets to $20.6 billion, which represents
an increase of 53% since the beginning of 2015. Part
of this growth is attributed to our recent acquisition
of the Miami based private banking business of Bank
Hapoalim, U.S.A.. This acquisition brought the Bank
nearly $2 billion in additional client assets and new relationship managers covering Central and Latin America.
Subsequent to the acquisition, the Bank reopened the
Representative Office in Chile.

Our resilience, growth and performance are the result
of a successful combination of strong and committed family ownership and the likeminded sense of
responsibility of its executive team. Our long-term
positive track record in investments, tight controls
and governance, and our strategy to pursue organic
growth and acquisitions, puts Safra National Bank
of New York in an advantageous position to continue
to attract talents to our team and new clients to our
business. We believe a business may only be sustainable by creating the best possible environment
for its team to grow, develop, and excel in a prudent,
yet innovative manner, having a complete alignment
of interests between shareholder, management and
clients.
In 2017 we witnessed solid economic growth and positive returns across most markets, regardless of geo
political issues, many of which remain unresolved. In
the United States, despite the 25 basis point increase
in interest rates by the Federal Reserve, the country
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experienced the strongest growth since 2014, with
the GDP increasing 2.6%. This growth resulted in an
increase in corporate earnings, and also the continuation of the upward trend in global equity markets.
As 2018 transitions, we will continue to work diligently
with our clients to help ensure their portfolios are well
diversified. We will also continue to be a solid, trusted,
and reliable partner, who can help our clients navigate
any waters, no matter how calm or how turbulent, in
order to withstand the different economic cycles and
markets in the long term. This is the reason that the
J. Safra brand continues to prove itself as the leader
in private banking for more than 175 years, and why
we are the best partners to accompany our clients
and their families for generations to come.
Capital Strength and Risk Management
A sound capital base is the foundation stone needed
for a global private bank. This philosophy is also
reflected in the conservative structure of the Bank’s
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balance sheet, which maintains a strong capital base,
along with a high level of liquidity and asset quality.
Safra National Bank of New York further strengthened
its financial position in 2017. Tier 1 Capital rose to
$620 million, an increase of 13.9% over the prior year.
Capital-to-risk weighted-asset ratio stood at 15.9% at
December 31, 2017.
Record Performance in 2017
The 2017 year was an exceptional year for Safra
National Bank of New York, with an increase in total
client assets of 25.7%, or $4.2 billion, to a record
amount of $20.6 billion. This substantial increase was
not only the result of market performance, but also
an additional $2.6 billion from organic growth and the
acquisition of the international private banking business
of Bank Hapoalim U.S.A..

Net interest income increased by 7.5% to $147 million
in 2017 compared to $137 million in 2016. Non-interest

Year in Review

income increased by 88.8% to $135 million in 2017
compared to $72 million in 2016. This significant increase was driven by a strong activity in client trading,
as well as the result of a positive market performance
in the Bank’s own investment portfolio.

and to navigate the different economic cycles, regardless of whether they are turbulent or calm.

The Bank reported a strong increase of 52% in its
operating income to $155 million in 2017 compared
to $102 million in 2016. Accordingly, the Bank’s costincome ratio further improved to 45.2% from 51.0%.

On behalf of the Safra National Bank of New York executive team, I would like to thank our clients and our
employees for their continued commitment and support and for the confidence they have entrusted to us.
The philosophy of nurturing clients across generations,
and long-term perseverance continues to position the
J. Safra brand as a true leader in private banking.

Due to a strong year in revenues, controlled expenses
and favorable market conditions, net income almost doubled in 2017 to $115 million as compared to $58 million
in 2016.

Simoni Morato
Chief Executive Officer
Safra National Bank of New York

Total on-balance sheet assets and total equity reached
$8.2 billion and $805 million at December 31, 2017,
respectively, as compared to $7.5 billion and $670 million at the end of 2016. The Bank is well capitalized
and has all the financial strength to continue to grow
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Profile
United States | Miami | Miami Bay

Company Profile

Safra National Bank of New York (the
“Bank”) is a well-regarded provider of
private banking and financial services.
Since 1981, the Bank has been providing its high net
worth clients premier private banking with the leading
edge solutions of a modern bank combined with the personalized concierge service of a more traditional private
bank. Headquartered in New York, and with a branch
office in Aventura, Florida and representative offices in
Brazil, Chile, Mexico, and Panama, the Bank is committed to serve and increase its client base, domestically,
and throughout Latin America. As of the end of 2017,
the Bank held more than $20 billion in client assets.
As a privately held institution, Safra National Bank of
New York does not have the pressure to maximize shortterm gains for stockholders or to take undue risks. Our
steadfast position throughout varied economic cycles,
reinforced with our core philosophy of capital preservation, corroborates the “alignment of interests” between
the Bank and its clients. Our relationship managers are
driven by sustaining and growing relationships through
expertise and personalized services, perpetuating the
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synergy between the Bank and our clients. Moreover,
we also recognize that the safety and soundness of our
balance sheet is paramount to our clients.
Safra National Bank of New York holds a national bank
charter and is supervised by the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (“OCC”) and is a member of the
Federal Reserve System and the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”). The Bank has a fully functional U.S. broker-dealer subsidiary, Safra Securities
LLC, which is registered with the U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”) and is a member of
the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (“FINRA”) as
well as an SEC registered investment advisor affiliate,
J. Safra Asset Management Corporation. Additionally,
the Bank is able to leverage the investment advisory capabilities of the newly established affiliate, SNB
Servicios (Uruguay) S.A..

center of all we do. Private banking is in our DNA, and
in recognizing the diverse needs of our clients, we
offer a comprehensive range of services to meet their
global needs, including expanded brokerage and advisory services through our subsidiary and affiliated
companies, Safra Securities LLC and J. Safra Asset
Management Corporation, respectively. By establishing and maintaining long-term client relationships built
on trust; providing easy access to our senior management team; and having a model that allows for greater
flexibility, the Bank is at the forefront of the private
banking industry. As a private bank that can leverage the strength and global reach of its international
affiliates, we maintain the access, expertise, technical skills and broad knowledge of some of the largest
global financial institutions, while retaining the flexi
bility, quick decision-making, independence, and entrepreneurial sensibilities of a boutique private bank.

Our Mandate
As the core business of the Bank, private banking
is our mission and all other activities cater first and
foremost to this area.
At Safra National Bank of New York, relationships are
the key to private banking, and the client is at the
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Products
and Services
Uruguay | Montevideo | Montevideo Bay

Products and Services

Custody Services
Custody and Safekeeping are an integral part of our
private banking services, offering clients access to a
wide range of investment opportunities while protecting those assets from undue risk.
The Bank provides a broad range of custody and
safekeeping services including, but not limited to, multiasset processing and settlement, proxy services, corporate actions, dividends and interest calculations, daily
cash management, periodic statements and confirmations, cash and securities transfers, and tax reporting
and recordkeeping. The Bank offers these custody and
safekeeping services to its clients as part of its trading services so clients can meet all of their securities
needs through a single platform.
Trading and Execution Services
Trading and Execution Services are managed through
a dedicated team of account officers and our own inhouse trading professionals who collaborate and can
respond quickly and efficiently to a broad range of
clients’ investment needs.
The Bank maintains the philosophy of keeping an
open platform to be able to offer a variety of products
and services to satisfy the most demanding investment needs of its clients. The Bank and its brokerdealer subsidiary Safra Securites LLC have global trading capabilities in fixed-income securities including
U.S. and emerging markets instruments and structured
products, as well as equities (U.S. and worldwide), precious metals, options and foreign exchange operations.
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Products and Services

In particular, the Bank has considerable expertise in the
following product areas:
• U.S. and Other Developed Countries Fixed-Income
Instruments: Fixed-income securities include but are
not limited to corporate debt, commercial paper,
foreign currency time deposits, U.S. Treasuries, and
U.S. agency securities.
• Emerging Markets Fixed-Income Instruments: Fixedincome securities include but are not limited to corporate and sovereign debt bonds primarily in the
Latam markets.
• Structured Products and Derivatives: With relationships to some of the largest financial institution
counterparties, the Bank provides various structured
products (fixed income and equity) for the Bank’s
sophisticated clients.
• Equities and Options: The Bank, as well as its U.S.
broker dealer subsidiary, facilitates trading on the
NYSE, NASDAQ and other stock exchanges worldwide
to accommodate clients’ execution orders and needs.
• Currency and Precious Metals: The Bank offers competitive pricing of foreign exchange instruments,
derivative products and non-deliverable forwards to
help clients hedge their investment exposure.
• Mutual Funds and Other Alternative Investments:
The Bank also makes available to its clients an extensive universe of mutual funds through its U.S. brokerdealer subsidiary, and alternative investments, leveraging off the expertise of its affiliate J. Safra Asset
Management Corporation.
International Trade Finance Services
Clients seeking tailored international trade financing
solutions can find experts dedicated to help meeting
their global financing needs.
To meet clients’ needs in foreign trade endeavors,
Safra National Bank of New York maintains a full range
of trade-financing services, including commercial and
standby letters of credit, performance and bid bonds,
documentary collections, and import, export and forfeit
financing. Account officers work alongside our credit

experts to find the most appropriate solution to meet
every individual client need.
Commercial Real Estate Financing Services
Our team of highly experienced lending experts in
commercial real estate take the time to undertake
an in-depth analysis and to understand the objectives
of each client in order to provide the right real estate
financing solution.
The Bank offers specialized services and fixed and
floating rate financing solutions for all types of commercial real estate assets, including multifamily, offices,
retail, and mixed use properties throughout the United
States, with particular focus in New York City and the
surrounding boroughs. With a team of knowledgeable
and experienced in-house lending officers, the Bank
offers a broad range of financing capabilities that are
creative, flexible and scalable.
Asset Management
Through our U.S. affiliate, J. Safra Asset Management
Corporation, our clients have ready access to a spe
cialized team of advisors who can help clients achieve
their adjusted risk return objectives.
The Bank recognizes that the needs of its clients are
varied and sophisticated, and in many cases the Bank
offers more specialized services provided by its advisory affiliate, J. Safra Asset Management Corporation
(“JSAM”). JSAM, which is a U.S. SEC registered Investment Advisor, has more than $1.5 billion in assets under
management as of the end of 2017. The investment
team strongly believes that through disciplined and
consistent asset allocation, the team can truly help
clients in achieving their performance goals. JSAM
offers discretionary and non-discretionary advisory
portfolios, using a diverse range of asset classes and
managers, keeping an open platform to expand pos
sible investment vehicles, and when necessary, custo
mizing solutions to address the specific needs of each
individual client.
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Corporate Governance

Compliance Culture
In order to safeguard and uphold the trust in our
brand, the Bank is committed to promoting a “Culture
of Compliance” that fosters a sense of personal ac
countability and the desire to do things the right way.
At Safra National Bank of New York, we expect all of our
employees to adhere to the absolute highest levels of
ethical conduct and behavior. To sustain this, the Bank
has established policies and procedures that clearly
outline every employee’s obligations to comply with
laws and regulations; established internal controls that
mitigate the risk of improper activities; established an
infrastructure to enforce, test, and measure compliance
through our various Compliance, Internal Audit, and
Risk Management divisions; and established a Board
of Directors that can oversee the Bank’s activities and
can work with our leadership to continually improve and
enhance the Bank’s corporate governance practices.
A commitment to compliance is one of the core values
of the Bank’s Executive Management and the Bank
strongly believes that this commitment is the key to
sustaining confidence in the Bank and retaining the
continued trust of its clients, both of which are critical
to the Bank’s long-term success.

While our commitment to our clients is our first priority,
the Bank is also dedicated to fostering growth and
the sense of community that is essential to a private
bank, within our own employee family. In recruiting,
training, developing, and investing in our employees,
the Bank encourages entrepreneurial innovation, which
adds to the continued growth of the Bank, improves
our product and service offerings, and ensures that
the Bank will retain a competitive edge amongst its
peers. With a low employee turnover rate, our clients
recognize that the long-term relationships of both the
client, and their account officers, are vitally important
to our institution.
Board of Directors
The Board of Directors of Safra National Bank of New
York is the ultimate governing body of Safra National
Bank of New York and its subsidiaries. The Board
advises on the strategic direction of the Bank, oversees the Bank’s overall activities, and sets the tone
and establishes guidelines on the nature and amount
of risk the Bank may take. Collectively, the members
of the Board have a thorough understanding of the
financial industry, as well as legal and regulatory environment in which the Bank operates.
As of December 31, 2017, the composition of the
Board of Directors of Safra National Bank of New York
was as follows:
Joseph Y. Safra
Jacob J. Safra
Carlos Alberto Vieira
Simoni Morato
Mark S. Grunwald
Stephen Gardner
Anne Vitale
Peter J. Mansbach
Raphael Amit

Chairman
Vice-Chairman
Member
Member
Member
Member*
Member*
Member* (retired 1/1/18)
Member* (as of 2/21/18)
*Independent member
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Executive Committee
The Board of Directors delegates the responsibility for
the direct management of the Bank to the CEO and
the Executive Committee. As of December 31, 2017,
the composition of the Executive Committee of Safra
National Bank of New York was as follows:
Simoni Morato
Mark S. Grunwald
Carlos Bertaco
Peter Javier
		
Rafaelo Colombo
		
		
		

Chairman and CEO
Vice-Chairman and CFO
Member and Controller
Member and
Chief Compliance Officer
Member and Head of
Information Technology/
Information Security/
Operations

The Executive Committee assures the implementation
of all directives issued by the Board of Directors and
provides the Board of Directors with all information
necessary to enable the Board to sufficiently carry out
its supervisory obligations. Furthermore, the Executive
Committee is responsible for the implementation of
policies and procedures, including but not limited to
the key areas of the Bank:
• Compliance and Legal
• Internal Audit
• Enterprise Risk Management
• Credit
• Treasury and Financial Control
• Treasury Risk Management /
Management Information Systems
• Information Technology/ Information Security
• Human Resources and Training
The duties, responsibilities and functions of the above
are governed by the various committees appointed by
the Board of Directors and written policies which are
subject to annual review and approval by the Board of
Directors.
Examination Committee
As of December 31, 2017 the Examination Committee
was composed of the following members:
Anne Vitale
Peter J. Mansbach
Stephen Gardner
Raphael Amit

Chairman
Member (retired 1/1/18)
Member
Member (as of 2/21/18)

The Examination Committee is composed by the External Board Members and its main role is to independently
supervise the activities of Internal Audit and Enterprise
Risk Management. Also the Examination Committee has
the responsibility of annually appointing the external
auditor. Deloitte & Touche, LLP has been re-appointed
as external auditor of Safra National Bank of New York
for the year 2017.
Internal Audit
The Internal Audit function reports to the Examination
Committee and is responsible for providing the Bank and
its subsidiaries with independent and objective evaluations on the effectiveness of the institutions risk management, control, and governance processes by assessing:
• the effectiveness of processes implemented to define
strategies and risk tolerance, as well as the overall
adherence to the strategies approved by the Board of
Directors;
• effectiveness of policies and procedures;
• effectiveness of risk management, including whether
risks are appropriately identified and managed;
• effectiveness of internal controls, specifically whether
they are commensurate with the risks taken;
• effectiveness and sustainability of remedial actions,
if any;
• reliability and integrity of financial and operational information (i.e. whether activities are properly, accurately,
and completely recorded, and the quality of underlying
data and models) and;
• compliance with legal, regulatory, and statutory requirements, as well as with internal policies and procedures.
Enterprise Risk Management
The Enterprise Risk Management function reports to
the Examination Committee and is responsible for
identifying emerging risks that may affect the Bank
and its subsidiaries and ensuring such risks are being
adequately addressed through:
• the development and monitoring of key risk indicators
(“KRIs”) to determine quantity and direction of risk and
to proactively implement risk mitigation measures;
• the maintenance of an inventory of internal controls
based on existing policies and procedures that are
mapped to key risk areas;
• the on-going monitoring of risk taking activities and
risk exposure to ensure they are in line with the
board-approved risk appetite and risk limits.
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Consolidated
Financial
Statements
Panama | Panama Canal

Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Safra National Bank of New York
New York, NY

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Safra National Bank of New York
and its subsidiaries (the “Bank”), which comprise the
consolidated statements of financial condition as of
December 31, 2017 and 2016, and the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income,
changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the
years then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements.
Management’s Responsibility for the
Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and
fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this
includes the design, implementation, and maintenance
of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of consolidated financial statements that
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are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the
auditor considers internal control relevant to the Bank’s
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit pro
cedures that are appropriate in the circumstances.

An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of Safra National Bank of New York
and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2017 and 2016,
and the results of their operations and their cash flows
for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America.

New York, NY
March 16, 2018
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Consolidated Statements
of Financial Condition

As of 12.31.2017

As of 12.31.2016

ASSETS

US$ 000

US$ 000

CASH AND DUE FROM BANKS (Notes 4, 12, 18 and 21)

161,966

142,451

24,912

–

49,629

54,239

200,000

400,000

SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS (Note 21)
CASH AND SECURITIES REQUIRED TO BE SEGREGATED UNDER FEDERAL
OR OTHER REGULATIONS (Note 3)
INTEREST-BEARING DEPOSITS WITH BANKS (Notes 2, 12, 18 and 21):
Pledged as collateral (Note 2)
Unencumbered
Total interest-bearing deposits with banks

1,373,757

595,962

1,573,757

995,962

SECURITIES HELD-TO-MATURITY, AMORTIZED COST (Notes 6, 12, 18, and 21):
Pledged as collateral (Note 6)
Unencumbered
Total securities held-to-maturity

546

616

1,133

1,567

1,679

2,183

2,492,642

2,454,041

573,758

640,785

3,066,400

3,094,826

SECURITIES AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE, FAIR VALUE (Notes 6, 12, 18, and 21):
Pledged as collateral (Note 6)
Unencumbered
Total securities available-for-sale (includes securities available-for-sale at fair value —
$1,501,224 and $1,502,047 on December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively)
TRADING SECURITIES, FAIR VALUE (Notes 7, 12, 18, and 21):
Pledged as collateral (Note 7)

19,979

–

Unencumbered

72,095

70,304

92,074

70,304

2,935,787

2,743,427

Interest receivable (Note 4)

39,375

36,283

Premises and equipment, net (Note 10)

31,250

26,680

Total trading securities
LOANS — net of allowance for loan losses, unearned discounts, and deferred loan fees
(includes loans at fair value — $1,030,218 and $1,045,161 on December 31, 2017
and 2016, respectively) (Notes 4, 8, 9, 12, 18, and 21)
OTHER ASSETS:

Customers' liability on acceptances outstanding (Notes 12 and 21)
Cash surrender value of life insurance
Net deferred tax asset (Note 16)
Federal Reserve Stock

459

763

76,567

74,579

–

38,267

9,602

9,602

Derivative assets (Notes 21 and 22)

65,974

74,797

Other assets (Notes 11 and 21 )

73,520

97,285

Total other assets
TOTAL ASSETS
See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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296,747

358,256

8,202,951

7,461,648
(Continued)

Consolidated Financial Statements

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

As of 12.31.2017

As of 12.31.2016

US$ 000

US$ 000

2,337,484

2,501,227

244,580

132,802

4,065,381

3,532,682

6,647,445

6,166,711

504,900

365,002

19,502

7,068

LIABILITIES:
Deposits (Notes 4, 13, and 21):
Demand
Money market, NOW, and savings (Note 22)
Time (includes time deposits at fair value — $13,746 and $721,707
on December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively)
Total deposits
Borrowings (Notes 4 and 14)
Interest payable (Notes 4 and 21)
Acceptances outstanding (Note 21)
Accrued compensation
Accrued taxes payable
Net deferred tax liability (Note 16)
Derivative liabilities (Notes 21 and 22)
Payable to customers
Other liabilities

459

763

21,440

18,721

152

6,804

9,059

–

100,611

73,391

49,929

53,825

43,881

99,033

7,397,378

6,791,318

18,956

18,956

Additional paid-in capital

292,601

292,601

Retained earnings

474,745

364,795

Total liabilities
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Note 19)
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY:
Common stock, $100 par value — authorized, 500,000 shares;
issued and outstanding, 189,560 shares

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) — net of tax expense
Total stockholders’ equity
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
See notes to consolidated financial statements.

19,271

(6,022)

805,573

670,330

8,202,951

7,461,648
(Concluded)
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Consolidated Statements
of Income
For the Year Ended

For the Year Ended

12.31.2017

12.31.2016

US$ 000

US$ 000

INTEREST INCOME:
Loans — including realization of deferred fees and accretion of discounts
on loans (Notes 4 and 9)

92,331

85,077

Securities (Note 6)

78,891

72,293

Interest-bearing deposits with banks (Note 2)

19,847

10,900

Securities purchased under agreements to resell
Total interest income

9

4

191,078

168,274

44,002

31,512

147,076

136,762

INTEREST EXPENSE:
Deposits and borrowings (Note 4)
NET INTEREST INCOME
NET PROVISION FOR CREDIT LOSSES — including off-balance sheet reserve
(Notes 9 and 17)
Net interest income after provision for credit losses

1,809

–

145,267

136,762

49,657

61,582

28,893

(37,090)

OTHER INCOME:
Net gain on securities transactions and sale of interest-bearing deposits
with banks (includes $(65) and $36,916 accumulated other comprehensive
income (“OCI”) reclassifications for realized net (losses)/gains on availablefor-sale securities sold/calls for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively) (Notes 6 and 7)
Net gain/(loss) on fair value measurements (includes derivative net interest
(expense) of $(19,681) and $(31,478) for the years ended December 31, 2017
and 2016, respectively) (Note 21)
Net gain on foreign currency valuation on securities, derivatives and interestbearing deposits with banks

16,502

7,684

Fees and service charges (Note 4)

28,807

28,028

Other income

11,324

11,391

135,183

71,595

64,321

55,347

Professional fees (Note 4)

19,720

14,665

Occupancy (Notes 4, 10, and 12)

10,041

7,929

5,783

4,919

21,707

39,490

Total other expenses

121,572

122,350

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES

158,878

86,007

Total other income
OTHER EXPENSES:
Salaries and employee benefits

Communications and data processing
Other operating (Note 15)

INCOME TAXES (includes $(17) and $14,766 income taxes (benefit)/expense from
reclassification items from OCI for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively) (Note 16)
NET INCOME
See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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43,928

27,516

114,950

58,491
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Consolidated Statements
of Comprehensive Income

NET INCOME

For the Year Ended

For the Year Ended

12.31.2017

12.31.2016

US$ 000

US$ 000

114,950

58,491

25,245

(3,713)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS), NET OF TAXES:
Securities available-for-sale:
Net unrealized gains/(losses) during the period (net of tax (expense)/benefit of
$(8,870) and $2,475 on December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively)
Reclassification adjustment for realized losses/(gains) for securities
sold/called included in net income (net of tax (benefit)/expense of $(17) and
$14,766, on December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively)
Other comprehensive income/(loss)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

48

(22,151)

25,293

(25,864)

140,243

32,627

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Accumulated
Other
Common

Additional

Retained

Comprehensive

Stock

Paid-In Capital

Earnings

Income (Loss)

Total

BALANCE — December 31, 2015

18,956

292,601

311,304

19,842

642,703

Payment of dividends (Note 20)

–

–

(5,000)

–

(5,000)

US$ 000

Net income

–

–

58,491

–

58,491

Other comprehensive income

–

–

–

(25,864)

(25,864)

BALANCE — December 31, 2016

18,956

292,601

364,795

(6,022)

670,330

Payment of dividends (Note 20)

–

–

(5,000)

–

(5,000)

Net income

–

–

114,950

–

114,950

Other comprehensive income

–

–

–

25,293

25,293

18,956

292,601

474,745

19,271

805,573

BALANCE — December 31, 2017

See notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements
of Cash Flows

For the Year Ended

For the Year Ended

12.31.2017

12.31.2016

US$ 000

US$ 000

114,950

58,491

1,809

–

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income
Adjustment to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Net provision for credit losses
Depreciation and amortization

3,706

1,703

Deferred income taxes

31,999

3,137

Net accretion of securities discounts

20,061

19,424

106

(32,602)

Net loss/(gain) on sales of securities available-for-sale
Net (gain) on fair value measurement of elected fair value option on securities
available-for-sale
Net loss on fair value measurement on elected fair value option on loans and deposits

(89,115)

(1,021)

4,848

18,207

4,610

(54,239)

Net decrease (increase) in operating assets:
Cash and securities required to be segregated under federal or other regulations
Trading securities

(21,770)

27,067

Interest receivable

(3,092)

(6,628)

8,823

(20,418)

37,568

(56,779)

Derivative assets
Other assets
Net increase (decrease) in operating liabilities:
Interest payable

12,434

2,403

Accrued compensation

2,719

366

Accrued taxes payable

(6,652)

1,060

Derivative liabilities

27,220

(28,303)

Payable to customers
Other liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities

(3,896)

53,825

(55,152)

75,322

91,176

61,015

272,154

883,094

504

382

(134,156)

(1,241,690)

(7,618)

(8,222)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from paydowns, sales, calls, and maturities of securities available-for-sale
Proceeds from paydowns and maturities of securities held-to-maturity
Purchases of securities
Purchases of premises and equipment
Cash used in business combination, net of cash acquired
Increase in cash surrender value of life insurance

(14,463)

–

(1,988)

(2,102)

(577,795)

(372,761)

Net decrease (increase) in:
Interest-bearing deposits with banks
Securities purchased under agreements to resell
Loans
Customers’ liability on acceptances outstanding
Net cash (used in) investing activities
See notes to the consolidated financial statements.

–

2,010

(196,774)

13,118

304

480

(659,832)

(725,691)
(Continued)
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For the Year Ended

For the Year Ended

12.31.2017

12.31.2016

US$ 000

US$ 000

(5,000)

(5,000)

Deposits

470,161

992,651

Borrowings

139,898

(332,023)

–

(2,184)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Payment of dividends
Net increase (decrease) in:

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase
Acceptances outstanding
Net cash provided by financing activities
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(304)

(480)

604,755

652,964

8,328

(7,381)

44,427

(19,093)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS — Beginning of year

142,451

161,544

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS — End of year

186,878

142,451

Interest on deposits, borrowed funds, and derivative transactions

48,774

43,144

Income taxes — (net of refunds received of $288 in 2017 and $34 in 2016)

27,543

23,551

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION:
Cash paid during the year for:

See notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements
As of and for the years ended December 31, 2017
and 2016
(Dollars in thousands)

1. ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Presentation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Safra National Bank of New York (“SNBNY”)
and its wholly owned subsidiaries, Safra Securities LLC
(“SSL”) and 3050 Aventura Owner, LLC (collectively,
the “Bank”). SNBNY engages in wholesale and private
banking under a federal charter and is a member of
the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”)
and the Federal Reserve System (“FED”). The Office
of the Comptroller of the Currency (the “OCC”) regulates and supervises SNBNY. SSL is registered with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) and is a
member of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority
(“FINRA”). The Bank is a subsidiary of Safra New York
Corporation (the “Parent”), a U.S. holding company.
Principles of Consolidation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Bank and are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America (hereinafter referred
to as “generally accepted accounting principles” or
“GAAP”). All intercompany accounts and transactions
within the Bank have been eliminated in consolidation.
Use of Estimates in the Preparation of
Consolidated Financial Statements
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements
in conformity with GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported

amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements, and the reported amounts
of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could materially differ from these estimates. Significant accounting estimates reflected in
the Bank’s consolidated financial statements include
the allowance for loan losses, the valuation of goodwill and intangible assets, the realization of deferred
tax assets, the other-than-temporary impairment of
available-for-sale securities, the fair value of financial
instruments and reserve for claims.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
For purposes of the consolidated financial statements,
cash and cash equivalents are comprised of cash and
due from banks which consists of cash on hand, cash
items in the process of collection, and amounts due from
banks and other financial institutions, and short-term
investments which consists of money market funds. All
amounts included in cash and due from banks have an
original maturity of 90 days or less and do not bear any
interest. Cash in SNBNY’s vault at December 31, 2017
and 2016, was $662 and $675, respectively.
Cash and Securities Required to be Segregated
under Federal or Other Regulations
Cash and securities required to be segregated under federal or other regulations consists of non interest-bearing
cash and U.S. Government securities held in a special
reserve bank account pursuant to Rule 15c3-3 for SSL.
Interest-Bearing Deposits with Banks
Interest-bearing deposits with banks consist principally
of money market accounts, due from the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (“FRBNY”), time deposits, and
amounts due from other depository and other financial
institutions. The Bank pledged interest-bearing deposits
as collateral for a credit line with the Federal Reserve
Bank of New York and securities transactions with other
financial institutions.
Securities Sold under Agreements to Repurchase
(“Repurchase Agreements”) and
Securities Purchased under Agreements to Resell
(“Reverse Repurchase Agreements”)
Repurchase agreements and reverse repurchase agreements are recorded as collateralized financing trans-
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actions and are carried at the contract value as specified in the respective agreements. Accrued interest on
these transactions is recorded within interest receivable or payable in the consolidated statements of
financial condition. Interest on these transactions is
recorded within interest income or interest expense in
the consolidated statements of income. It is the policy
of the Bank to obtain possession of collateral with a
fair value equal to or in excess of the principal amount
loaned under the reverse repurchase agreements. Collateralized reverse repurchase agreements may result
in credit exposure in the event the counterparties to
the transactions are unable to fulfill their contractual
obligations. The Bank minimizes the credit risk associated with this activity by monitoring credit exposure
and collateral values, and by requiring additional collateral to be promptly deposited with or returned to the
Bank when deemed necessary.
Securities
Securities accounted for under Accounting Standards
Codification (“ASC”) 320, Investment — Debt and
Equity Securities (“ASC 320”), are categorized as heldto-maturity, available-for-sale, or trading. Debt securities that the Bank has the positive intent and ability
to hold to maturity are classified as held-to-maturity
and are carried on the consolidated statements of
financial condition at amortized cost unless a decline
in value is deemed other-than-temporary as a result
of a credit deterioration of the issuer, in which case
the carrying value is adjusted. The amortization of
premium or accretion of discount, as well as any unrealized loss deemed other-than-temporary due to
credit deterioration, is included in current period earnings. Securities that were bought and held principally
for the purpose of selling them in the near term are
classified as trading securities. Trading securities are
carried at fair value with changes in unrealized gains
and losses included in current earnings. Securities
not classified as trading or as held-to-maturity are
classified as available-for-sale. These securities are
carried in the consolidated statements of financial
condition at fair value with changes in unrealized holding gains and losses reported as other comprehensive income (loss) (“OCI”), net of deferred income
taxes, in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income. The Bank elected the fair value option
for certain available-for-sale securities at inception

38 | Safra National Bank of New York, Annual Report 2017

and the changes in unrealized gains and losses for
these securities are included in net gain/(loss) on fair
value measurements on the consolidated statements
of income. Interest revenue arising from securities is
included in interest income on the consolidated statements of income.
For available-for-sale securities that are deemed to
have other-than-temporary impairment due to a change
in the Bank’s intent to sell, the full decline in fair value
below cost is included in current earnings. For available-for-sale securities that are deemed to have otherthan-temporary impairment as a result of credit impairment, only the decline in fair value for credit-related
impairment below cost is included in current earnings.
Impairments related to other factors are recorded in
OCI, net of applicable taxes.
Gains and losses on disposition of securities are
based on the net proceeds received as compared to
the adjusted carrying amount of the securities sold by
using the specific identification method, see Notes 6
and 7 for further details.
Loans
Loans are stated at the principal amount outstanding,
reduced by unearned discounts, deferred loan fees
and allowance for loan losses. Interest is calculated by
using the simple interest method on daily balances of
the principal amount outstanding. Unearned discounts
are recognized as interest income over the term of
the loans using effective interest method. Loan fees
and certain direct costs associated with originating or
acquiring loans are deferred and amortized over the
term of the loan using straight-line method.
Certain loans are recorded and measured at fair
value in accordance with ASC 825, Financial Instruments (“ASC 825”) as the Bank has elected the fair
value option for such loans. Such loans and accrued
interest are stated at fair value with unrealized gains
and losses included in current earnings. Interest reve
nue arising from those loans is included in the interest income on the consolidated statements of income.
All up-front fees and costs related to those loans are
recognized as other expenses in the consolidated
statements of income. Premiums and discounts are
deferred and recognized as income over the term of the
loans using the effective interest method. The allowance for loan losses is not applied to such loans. Refer
to Note 21 for further details.

Consolidated Financial Statements

Nonaccrual loans are those loans on which the accrual
of interest ceases when principal or interest payments
are past due 90 days or more, unless, in the opinion of
management, based upon a review of the borrower’s or
guarantor’s financial condition, collateral value or other
factors, full repayments are expected. A loan may be
placed on nonaccrual status prior to the 90-day period
if, in management’s opinion, conditions warrant nonaccrual status. Generally, accrued interest is reversed
when a loan is placed on nonaccrual status. Interest
payments received on this loan may be recognized as
income or applied to principal depending on management’s judgment.
A modified loan is considered a troubled debt
restructuring (“TDR”) when the borrower is experiencing financial difficulties and the Bank grants a concession to the borrower that would not typically be considered. No single factor, by itself, is indicative of whether
restructuring a debt is a TDR. The Bank evaluates the
overall general decline in the economy and deteriorations of the borrower’s financial condition. The Bank
grants a concession when the nature and amount of
the additional collateral or guarantees received as part
of a restructuring debt do not serve as adequate compensation for other terms of the restructuring. When
additional guarantees are received in a restructuring,
the Bank evaluates both the guarantor’s ability and willingness to pay the balance owed. The Bank reports all
TDR loans as impaired loans until they mature or are
paid down.
Uncollected overdraft amounts will be charged off
after 60 days outstanding. Any such amounts charged
off shall be charged back directly against the Bank’s
current earnings and not against the provision for
credit losses.
Allowance for Loan Losses
The allowance for loan losses is established through a
provision for credit losses, which is charged to expense
and is based upon management’s estimate of probable
incurred and inherent losses in the loan portfolio, current domestic and international economic conditions,
and other factors.
ASC 310, Receivables (“ASC 310”), requires all creditors to account for impaired loans, except those loans
that are accounted for at fair value or at the lower of
cost or fair value, at the present value of the expected
future cash flows discounted at the loan’s original

effective interest rate or, as an expedient, at the loans
observable market price or the fair value of the collateral.
The Bank’s allowance for loan losses is estimated
considering the following factors: whether the loan is
impaired, the type of loan product, the availability of
first loss insurance, the estimated credit risk associated with a loan or pool of loans, the default and loss
rates experienced by the Bank and industry, and the
economic environment.
If a loan is considered impaired, the Bank will measure the impairment based on either the present value
of estimated future cash flows, fair value of the loan,
or, if the loan is collateral dependent, the fair value of
the collateral less estimated costs to sell. Fair value
of the collateral is generally determined by third-party
appraisals for residential mortgage loans, quoted market prices for securities, and estimated fair values for
other assets. For all impaired loans, the amount by
which the loan balance exceeds the impairment measure is included as a component of the allowance for
loan losses estimate.
The Bank’s methodology to determine the allowance for loan losses and the provision for the offbalance sheet reserve for the non-impaired loans is
based on the level of risk associated with each loan.
The entire loan portfolio is divided into pools based
on Facility Risk Grades on a scale from 1 to 11, 1
being minimal risk of loss and 11 being a loss. Each
Facility Risk Grade has an approximated correlation
with rating scales from nationally recognized rating
agencies. These grades are then assigned both default
rates and recovery rates using current data from the
nationally recognized rating agencies adjusted by
qualitative factors, such as business conditions, collateral, competition/law/regulations, and credit concentrations.
Loss rates are determined by subtracting the recovery rates from 100%. For each Facility Risk Grade, the
reserve allocation factor is the Facility Risk Grade’s
average probability of loss given default. Qualitative
adjustments are added to the factor, if required. The
loan balances for each Facility Risk Grade category is
then multiplied by the reserve allocation factor to calculate the required allowance for loan losses for each
Facility Risk Grade category. The determination of the
allowance requires judgment by management, and is
therefore inherently uncertain.
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A general description of the Bank’s Facility Risk Grade categories is as follows:
Facility Risk
Grades

Classification

Description

1 to 3

Top Quality

These loans are well collateralized with certificates of deposit, diversified readily marketable

4 to 6

Normal

These loans do not possess any substantive negative characteristics. The Bank assigns a general

securities, and letters of credit from investment grade banks.

reserve as a contingency in the event of any adverse condition such as a review of the borrower’s
financial statements shows a decline in earnings from one year to the next or a reduction in the
borrowers available credit with other financial institutions affecting the borrower’s ability of payment.
7

Normal

Mortgages on properties in a transitional phase, High LTV loans or exposures that now requires
management attention although payments are current. Normal risk of loss of interest and principal
according to the terms and conditions of the facility. May require very close monitoring.

8

Special Mention

These loans are examined to determine whether the collateral has been impaired and payments
have been received on a timely basis.

9

Substandard

These loans are assessed for evidence of deterioration of the value of the collateral, and/or the
collectability and timing of payments does not allow the borrower to satisfy payments on the
agreed terms, endangering recovery of unpaid balances.
These loans present evidence that the borrower may have an impaired financial and economic

10

Doubtful

11

Loss

situation, and the likelihood of recovery for these loans is low.
These loans are designated as a loss and are to be charged off, as there is no potential for
recovery.

In order to maintain the quality of the loan portfolio, the
credit quality of each loan is reviewed at least annually.
This lending policy is applicable to all classes of loans.
Premises and Equipment
Premises and equipment, including land, building and
improvements, and artworks are stated at cost, less
any accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation of furniture, equipment, computer software and
hardware is computed by the straight-line method based
on the estimated useful lives of the assets, which are in
the range of three to five years. Depreciation of building
is computed by the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of 41 years. Improvements are amortized over the shorter of the life of the related lease or
the estimated useful lives of the assets. Artwork and
land are carried at cost and are not amortized.
Goodwill and Intangible Assets
On May 15, 2017, the Bank acquired the private banking business of another financial institution. The acquisition was accounted for under the acquisition method of
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accounting pursuant to ASC 805, Business Combinations.
The Bank paid cash of $14,463 for the acquired business which included fair value of $483,030 in customers deposits, $76,156 in customer loans, $392,411
in interest bearing deposits, and $1,445,493 in customer assets held in custody. The Bank recorded core
deposit and customer relationship intangible assets of
$10,154 and $2,472, respectively, with an estimated
life of 12 years, and goodwill of $1,837 related to this
acquisition. Both intangible assets and goodwill are included the other assets in the consolidated statements
of financial condition. The assets and liabilities were recorded at their estimated fair values on acquisition date.
The Bank evaluates the recoverability of finite-lived
intangible assets for possible impairment annually and
whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable.
Intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line
basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets.
The approximate useful lives for amortization of the
Bank’s core deposits and customer relationship intangible assets is 12 years. The amortization expense is
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included in other operating expense in the consolidated
statements of income.
Goodwill is measured as of the acquisition date at
the excess of consideration transferred over the net
fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed
in a business acquisition. Goodwill is not amortized for
accounting purposes.
The Bank is required to assess goodwill for impairment by comparing the estimated fair value of the
reporting unit with its respective carrying value. If the
estimated fair value exceeds the carrying value, goodwill is not deemed to be impaired. If the estimated
fair value is less than carrying value further analysis
is required to determine the amount of the impairment. The estimated fair values of the reporting units
are derived based on valuation techniques the Bank
believes market participants would use for each of the
reporting units. No impairment was recorded during
2017 for goodwill and intangible assets.
Derivative Financial Instruments
The Bank uses various derivative instruments, including interest rate swaps and foreign exchange contracts,
to manage the interest rate characteristics of certain
assets or liabilities and to economically hedge against
the effects of fluctuations in interest rates or foreign
exchange rates.
The Bank adheres to ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging (“ASC 815”), which establishes accounting and reporting standards for derivative instruments, as well as
certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts that are outside of the Bank’s trading activities.
All derivatives are recorded at fair value as derivative assets or derivative liabilities on the consolidated
statements of financial condition.
The Bank does not apply hedge accounting. All outstanding derivatives are included in the Bank’s derivative assets and liabilities, with changes in fair value
reflected in net gain/(loss) on fair value measurements
and net gain/(loss) on foreign currency valuation on
securities, derivatives and interest-bearing deposits
with banks in the consolidated statements of income.
The derivative assets and liabilities related interest
income/(expense) is also recorded in net gain/(loss)
on fair value measurements in the consolidated statements of income.
To reduce credit exposures on derivatives transactions, the Bank enters into master netting agreements

with counterparties that permit it to offset receivables and payables with such counterparties. The
Bank records the foreign exchange contracts, included
within the derivative assets and liabilities, on a netby-counterparty basis (i.e., the net payable or receivable for derivative assets and liabilities for a given
counterparty) in the consolidated statements of financial condition when a legal right of setoff exists
under ASC 210-20-45, Balance Sheet Offsetting, or
ASC 815-10-45, Derivatives and Hedging – Balance
Sheet Netting. The Bank has elected not to offset the
interest-bearing deposits pledged as collateral in the
derivative assets and liabilities in the consolidated
statements of financial condition. Refer to Note 21
for further details.
Deposits
Deposits consist of demand, money market, NOW, savings, and time deposits accounts. Included within time
deposits are brokered certificates of deposit issued by
the Bank. The Bank has elected the fair value option
in accordance with ASC 825 for certain brokered time
deposits. Refer to Note 21 for further details of the fair
value for deposit liabilities.
Borrowings
Borrowings include overnight borrowings with affiliated
banks and advances from the Federal Home Loan Bank
of New York (“FHLBNY”). Overnight borrowings with
affiliated banks are payable the next business day and
generally bear interest at a spread under the federal
funds rate. Advances from the FHLBNY have an original
maturity of 90 days or less with preset interest rates
determined by the FHLBNY.
Foreign Currency Transactions
Foreign currency transactions are accounted for at the
exchange rates prevailing on the related transaction
dates. Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recorded and reported in the accompanying consolidated statements of financial condition
using the period-end exchange rates. Gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of foreign currency transactions and from the revaluation of assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized
as net gain/(loss) on foreign currency valuation on
securities, derivatives, and interest-bearing deposits
with banks in the consolidated statements of income.
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Federal Reserve Bank of New York Stock and
Federal Home Loan Bank of New York Stock
The Bank’s investments in the FRBNY and the FHLBNY
stocks are carried at par value. The Bank is required to
maintain a minimum level of investment in the FRBNY
stock based on the capital of the Bank. As a member of
the FHLBNY, the Bank is required to own shares of the
FHLBNY stock. The FHLBNY’s requirement is based on
the amount of either the eligible collateral or advances
outstanding from the FHLBNY. The Bank periodically
evaluates the FRBNY and the FHLBNY stocks for otherthan-temporary impairment. The Bank’s determination
of whether these stocks are impaired is based on its
assessment of ultimate recoverability of par value
rather than recognizing temporary declines in value.
The determination of whether the decline affects the
ultimate recoverability is influenced by the criteria such
as: (1) the significance of the decline in net assets
of the FRBNY and the FHLBNY as compared to the
capital stock amounts for the FRBNY and the FHLBNY
and the length of time this situation has persisted; (2)
commitments by the FRBNY and the FHLBNY to make
payments required by law or regulation and the level
of such payments in relation to the operating performance of the FRBNY and the FHLBNY; (3) the impact
of legislative and regulatory changes on institutions
and, accordingly, on the customer base of the FRBNY
and the FHLBNY; and (4) the liquidity position of the
FRBNY and the FHLBNY. Based on this evaluation, the
Bank determined there is not an other-than-temporary
impairment of the stocks as of December 31, 2017 and
2016. The par value of the FHLBNY stocks is included
in other assets in the consolidated statements of
financial condition. Dividend income from the FRBNY
and the FHLBNY stocks is included in other income in
the consolidated statements of income.
Fees and Service Charges, and Other Income
Fees and service charges includes custody and banking fees. Other income primarily consists of commission
income recorded on trade date basis by SSL, the Bank’s
broker-dealer subsidiary. Also included within other income is other commissions earned by the Bank, and
interest income earned from bank owned life insurance.
Income Taxes
The Bank accounts for income taxes in accordance with
the provisions of ASC 740, Incomes Taxes (“ASC 740”),

42 | Safra National Bank of New York, Annual Report 2017

which requires that an asset and liability approach
be applied in accounting for income taxes and that
deferred tax assets and liabilities be reflected for temporary differences using tax rates expected to be in
effect when such differences reverse. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are recognized for the estimated
future tax consequences attributable to temporary
differences between the financial statement carrying
amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their
respective tax basis. In assessing the usability of
deferred tax assets, management considers whether
it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the
deferred tax assets will be realized.
The Bank is included in the consolidated federal
income tax return and combined state/city tax returns
of the Parent. Current and deferred taxes are allocated
to the Bank under the “separate-return” method. Under
this method, the Bank is assumed to file a separate
return with the taxing authority, thereby reporting its
taxable income or loss and paying the applicable tax
to or receiving the appropriate refund from the Parent
as if the Bank was a separate taxpayer, except that
net operating losses (or other current or deferred tax
attributes) are characterized as realized (or realizable)
by the Bank when those tax attributes are realized (or
realizable) by the consolidated federal and combined
state/city tax return group even if the Bank would not
otherwise have realized the attributes on a stand-alone
basis. Combined state apportionment factors are also
utilized by the Bank. This method for allocating income
tax expense, pursuant to their tax-sharing agreement
is systematic, rational and consistent with the broad
principles of ASC 740.
The Bank recognizes tax positions in the consolidated financial statements only when it is more likely
than not that the position will be sustained upon examination by relevant taxing authorities based on the
technical merits of the position. A position that meets
this standard is measured at the largest amount of
benefit that will more likely than not be realized upon
settlement. A liability is established for differences
between positions taken in a tax return and amounts
recognized in the consolidated financial statements.
The Bank recognizes interest and penalties related
to such a position within the income tax expense line
and a liability for unrecognized tax benefits (“UTB”) is
included in other liabilities in the accompanying con
solidated statements of financial condition and income.
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Fair Value Option for Financial Instruments
ASC 825 permits entities to elect to measure financial instruments and certain eligible items at fair value
upon entering into the transaction. The objective of the
fair value option is to improve financial reporting by
providing entities with the opportunity to mitigate volatility in reported earnings caused by measuring related
assets and liabilities differently without having to apply
complex hedge accounting provisions. The Bank has
elected the fair value option for certain available-forsale securities, loans and time deposits. Refer to Note
21 for further details of such financial instruments.
Fair Value Hierarchy
Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy are
recorded at the value as of the beginning of the reporting period. Determining the significance of transfers
into and out of levels, the Bank considers both the fair
value of the assets or liabilities transferred between
the levels (compared to total assets or liabilities of
the Bank, respectively) as well as the change in fair
value during the period associated with the transferred
assets or liabilities (compared to the Bank’s earnings).
Refer to Note 21 for further details.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
IIn May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standard
Update (“ASU”) No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts
with Customers (“ASU No. 2014-09”). ASU No. 2014-09
outlines a single comprehensive model for entities to
use in accounting for revenue arising from contracts
with customers and supersedes most current revenue
recognition guidance, including industry-specific guidance. The guidance requires a company to recognize
revenue when it transfers promised services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the company expects to be entitled in exchange
for those services and requires enhanced disclosures
to help users of the financial statements better understand the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of
revenue that is recognized. The FASB has subsequently
issued several amendments to the standard, including
deferral of the effective date until January 1, 2018,
clarification of principal versus agent considerations,
narrow scope improvements and other technical corrections. The new guidance is effective for annual and
interim periods beginning after December 15, 2017, for
public business entities. Early adoption is permitted

as early as the original public company effective date
of annual periods beginning after December 15, 2016.
The new guidance can be applied either retrospectively
to each prior reporting period presented, or as a cumulative-effect adjustment as of the date of adoption.
The Bank adopted this guidance on January 1, 2018
without a material impact on its consolidated financial
statements.
In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-1,
Financial Instruments—Overall (Subtopic 825-10). The
ASU amends the guidance in U.S. GAAP on the classification and measurement of financial instruments.
It revises an entity’s accounting related to (1) the classification and measurement of investments in equity
securities and (2) the presentation of certain fair value
changes for financial liabilities measured at fair value.
The ASU also amends certain disclosure requirements
associated with the fair value of financial instruments.
The new guidance is effective for annual and interim
periods beginning after December 15, 2017, for public
business entities. The Bank adopted this guidance on
January 1, 2018 without a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02,
Leases (Topic 842). The new guidance affects any entity
that enters into a lease, with some specified scope
exemptions. The ASU increases transparency and comparability among organizations by recognizing lease
assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet and
disclosing key information about leasing arrangements.
The new guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2019, and interim periods within
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020. The
Bank is currently evaluating the impact, if any, the new
guidance may have on its consolidated financial statements.
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13,
Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments, which
amended the guidance on accounting for credit losses.
The amended guidance requires measurement of all
expected credit losses for financial instruments and
other commitments to extend credit held at the reporting
date. For financial assets measured at amortized cost,
factors such as historical experience, current conditions,
and reasonable and supportable forecasts will be used
to estimate expected credit losses. The amended guidance will also change the manner in which credit losses
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are recognized on debt securities classified as available-for-sale. The new guidance will be effective for the
Bank’s interim and annual periods beginning January 1,
2021. Early adoption is permitted. The Bank is currently
evaluating the impact of the new accounting guidance
on its consolidated financial statements.
In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-15,
Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments. The ASU amends the guidance on the presentation and classification of certain cash receipts and
cash payments in the statement of cash flows to eliminate current diversity in practice. The new guidance will
be effective for interim and annual periods beginning
January 1, 2018 and must be applied using a retrospective transition method to each period presented.
Early adoption is permitted. The Bank adopted this
guidance on January 1, 2018 without a material impact
on its consolidated financial statements.
In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-18,
Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Restricted Cash.
The ASU requires that restricted cash and restricted
cash equivalents be included as components of total
cash and cash equivalents as presented on the statement of cash flows. The guidance will be effective
for public business entities for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2017, and interim periods within
those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted, including
adoption in an interim period. If an entity early adopts
the amendments in an interim period, any adjustments
should be reflected as of the beginning of the fiscal
year that includes that interim period. The Bank is
currently evaluating the impact of the new accounting
guidance on its consolidated financial statements.
In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-01,
Clarifying the Definition of a Business, provide a framework in determining whether a set of assets and activities (together referred to as “a set”) is a business. The
amendments in the ASU 2017-01 provides guidance to
evaluate whether the transactions should be accounted
for as acquisitions (or disposals) of a business or a
group of assets—an important distinction considering
the difference between accounting for the acquisition
(or disposals) of businesses and acquisitions (or disposals) of assets. ASU No. 2017-01 is effective for
annual periods beginning after December 31, 2017
and early adoption is permitted. The Bank does not
expect the adoption of ASU 2017-01 to have a material
impact on its consolidated financial statements.
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In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-04,
Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment, to simplify
the accounting for goodwill impairment. The guidance
removes Step 2 of the goodwill impairment test, which
requires a hypothetical purchase price allocation. A
goodwill impairment will now be the amount by which
a reporting unit’s carrying value exceeds its fair value,
not to exceed the carrying amount of goodwill. All
other goodwill impairment guidance will remain largely
unchanged. Entities will continue to have the option
to perform a qualitative assessment to determine if a
quantitative impairment test is necessary. The same
one-step impairment test will be applied to goodwill
at all reporting units, even those with zero or negative
carrying amounts. Entities will be required to disclose the amount of goodwill at reporting units with
zero or negative carrying amounts. A public business entity that is not an SEC filer should adopt the
amendments in this Update for its annual or any
interim goodwill impairment tests in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020. Early adoption is permitted for interim or annual goodwill impairment tests
performed on testing dates after January 1, 2017. The
Bank does not expect the adoption of ASU 2017-04 to
have a material impact on its consolidated financial
statements.
In March 2017 the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-08,
Receivables—Nonrefundable Fees and Other Costs
(Subtopic 320-20): Premium Amortization on Purchased
Callable Debt Securities. This standard shortens the
amortization period for the premium to the earliest call
date to more closely align interest income recorded on
bonds held at a premium or a discount with the economics of the underlying instrument. Adoption of ASU
2017-08 is required for fiscal years and interim periods
within those fiscal years, beginning after December,
15, 2018, and early adoption is permitted. The Bank is
currently evaluating the impact of the new accounting
guidance on its consolidated financial statements.
In August 2017 the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-12,
Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815): Targeted Improvements to Accounting for Hedging Activities. This standard better aligns an entity’s risk management activities and financial reporting for hedging relationships
through changes to both the designation and measurement guidance for qualifying hedging relationships
and the presentation of hedge results. To meet that
objective, the amendments expand and refine hedge
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accounting for both nonfinancial and financial risk components and align the recognition and presentation of
the effects of the hedge instruments and the hedged
item in the financial statements. Adoption of this ASU
is required for fiscal years and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2018, and early adoption is
permitted. The Bank is currently evaluating the impact
of the new accounting guidance on its consolidated
financial statements.
2. INTEREST-BEARING DEPOSITS WITH BANKS
As of December 31, 2017, interest-bearing deposits
with banks in the amount of $1,573,757 on the conso
lidated statement of financial condition consist principally of money market and time deposits, with maturities ranging from January 2018 to August 2018, and
interest rates ranging from 0.10% to 2.90%.
As of December 31, 2016, interest-bearing deposits
with banks in the amount of $995,962 on the consolidated statement of financial condition consist principally of money market and time deposits, with maturities ranging from April 2017 to September 2017, and
interest rates ranging from 0.10% to 2.92%.
Included in the interest-bearing deposits with banks
amounts noted above are also deposits with the
FRBNY bearing interest of 1.50% and 0.75%, amounting to $759,158 and $493,189 at December 31, 2017
and 2016, respectively. Regulations of the Federal
Reserve Board require depository institutions to maintain reserves, which are not available for investment
purposes. On average, required cash reserves were
$226,762 and $225,543 at the Federal Reserve Bank
of New York during the years ended December 31, 2017
and 2016, respectively. On average, there were deposits of $645,672 and $714,609 in excess of the reserve
requirement held at the Federal Reserve Bank of New
York during the years ended December 31, 2017 and
2016, respectively.
At December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Bank pledged
$200,000 and $400,000, respectively, of interestbearing deposits as collateral for a credit line with the
FRBNY.

related to maintaining cash and/or U.S. Government
securities in a segregated reserve account for the exclusive benefit of its customers, which as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, amounted to cash of $14,598
and $25,229, respectively, and qualified securities
as defined by SEC Rule 15c3-3 with a fair value of
$35,031 and $29,010, respectively.
4. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The ultimate shareholder of the Bank also controls
various other companies (affiliates) located in the
United States of America, Latin America, and Europe.
Transactions with such affiliates arise in the normal
course of business. A summary of transactions and
balances with affiliates as of and for the years ended
December 31, 2017 and 2016, are as follows:
$

2017

Cash and due from banks
Loans
Interest receivable

8,078

1,474

134,541

136,556

67

55

14,252

4,783

40,484

43,860

1,525

1,615

Time deposits

108,010

103,802

Borrowings

504,900

265,002

Other assets
LIABILITIES:
Demand deposits
Money market accounts, NOW,
and savings deposits

Interest payable
Other liabilities

736

528

6,039

4,065

3,001

2,341

4,593

2,361

7,428

6,005

4,652

4,591

10,000

10,000

INCOME AND EXPENSE FOR
THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31:
INCOME:
Fees and service charges and
interest income on loans
EXPENSE:
Interest expense on deposits
and borrowings
Professional services
(included in professional fees)
Rental expense
(included in occupancy expenses)

3. CASH AND SECURITIES REQUIRED TO
BE SEGREGATED UNDER FEDERAL OR OTHER
REGULATIONS
In accordance with SEC Rule 15c3-3, SSL as a broker
carrying customer accounts, is subject to requirements

2016

ASSETS:

Charitable contributions
(included in other operating
expenses)
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Pursuant to service level agreements, SNBNY charges
certain affiliates for expenses, which are included in
the income and expenses shown above. The allocation
of expenses from SNBNY to certain affiliates is based
on SNBNY’s proportionate head counts and allocated
time.
In August 2006, a loan of $263,738 was provided
to the Parent to acquire and retire 50% of the Parent’s
equity shares. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the
loan balance was reduced to $125,250 and $127,650,
respectively. The loan is fully secured by U.S. agency/
government securities and deposits. All other loans
provided to affiliates as of December 31, 2017 and
2016 of $9,291 and $8,906, respectively, are fully
secured by U.S. agency/government securities and
deposits. The average interest rates on all loans provided to related parties for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 were 2.19% and 1.65%, respectively. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, affiliates
have provided guarantees for several loans amounting
to $0 and $1,475, respectively. As of December 31,
2017 and 2016, letters of credit of $590 and $904,
respectively, have been issued on behalf of affiliates.
The average balance of overnight borrowings with
affiliates which are recorded in borrowings on the
consolidated statements of financial condition, during the years of 2017 and 2016 were $314,285 and
$366,365, respectively, and the average interest rate
on overnight borrowings with affiliates during the years
ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 were 1.01% and
0.38%, respectively.

5. SECURITIES PURCHASED UNDER AGREEMENTS
TO RESELL AND SECURITIES SOLD UNDER
AGREEMENTS TO REPURCHASE
Information concerning financial assets purchased
under agreements to resell is summarized as follows:
2017

Balance as of December 31,
Average balance during the year

2016

$–

$–

$1,715

$503

0.763%

0.117 %

$10,288

$2,010

Average interest rate earned
during the year
Highest balance at the end of
any month end

The Bank enters into repurchase agreements to obtain short-term financing. The counterparties to these
agreements may sell, loan, or otherwise dispose of
such financial assets to other parties in the normal
course of their operations, and will agree to resell to
the Bank identical financial assets at the maturities of
these agreements.
Information concerning securities sold under
agreements to repurchase is summarized as follows:
2017

Balance as of December 31,
Average balance during the year

2016

$–

$–

$1,920

$629

0.21%

(0.58)%

$10,987

$2,184

Average interest rate (earned) paid
during the year
Highest balance at the end of any
month end

The Bank does not net securities purchased under
agreements to resell and securities sold under agreements to repurchase. The securities purchased under
agreements to resell and securities sold under agreements to repurchase were open-maturity agreements
during 2017 and 2016.
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6. SECURITIES —
AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE & HELD-TO-MATURITY
The amortized cost, gross unrealized gains/(losses),
and fair value of securities including elected fair value
option available-for-sale securities as of December 31,
2017 and 2016, were approximately as follows:
Securities at December 31, 2017
Gross

$

Amortized

Unrealized

Unrealized

Cost

Gains

Losses

Fair Value

Available-for-Sale Securities:

Obligations of U.S. government

381,982

29,801

–

411,783

Non-U.S. government debt securities

152,069

7,578

–

159,647

Corporate debt securities

713,352

20,252

(471)

733,133

1,530,281

49,876

(837)

1,579,320

183,085

990

(1,558)

182,517

2,960,769

108,497

(2,866)

3,066,400

Obligations of states, local, U.S. Sponsored agencies, and political subdivisions
Agency mortgage-backed securities
Total available-for-sale securities
Held-to-Maturity Securities:

Agency mortgage-backed securities

1,679

171

–

1,850

1,679

171

–

1,850

Amortized

Unrealized

Unrealized

Cost

Gains

Losses

Fair Value

Obligations of U.S. government

374,922

10,186

(5,783)

379,325

Non-U.S. government debt securities

144,844

2,818

(3,905)

143,757

807,944

3,825

(17,531)

794,238

1,509,115

9,881

(25,203)

1,493,793

Total held-to-maturity securities

Securities at December 31, 2016
Gross

$
Available-for-Sale Securities:

Corporate debt securities
Obligations of states, local, U.S. Sponsored agencies, and political subdivisions
Agency mortgage-backed securities
Total available-for-sale securities

282,065

2,336

(688)

283,713

3,118,890

29,046

(53,110)

3,094,826

2,183

253

–

2,436

2,183

253

–

2,436

Held-to-Maturity Securities:

Agency mortgage-backed securities
Total held-to-maturity securities

The Bank elected the fair value option (“FVO”) for
certain securities in order to align the accounting with
swaps and foreign currency forward contracts that
hedge the risk associated with the investments. The
swaps and forwards do not qualify for hedge accounting and the change in value of the swaps and forwards are recorded in net gain/(loss) on fair value

measurements on the consolidated statements of
income. These securities are classified as availablefor-sale securities on the consolidated statements of
financial condition. The change in value of FVO securities is recorded in net gain/(loss) on fair value
measurements on the consolidated statements of
income.
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A summary of the changes in value of FVO securities
is as follows:

$

As of

As of

December

December

31, 2017

31, 2016

Amortized cost

1,426,176

1,516,114

Fair value of FVO securities

1,501,224

1,502,047

Gross unrealized gains

76,601

16,102

Gross unrealized (losses)

(1,553)

(30,169)

Available-for-sale securities with unrealized losses as
of December 31, 2017 and 2016 including elected
fair value option available-for-sale securities, are presented in the following table by the length of time, for
which individual securities have been in a continuous
unrealized loss position. There were no gross unrealized losses for held-to-maturity securities as of December 31, 2017 and 2016.
As of December 31, 2017
Less Than 12 Months Greater Than 12 Months

Amortized
$

Gross

Gross

Gross

Unrealized

Unrealized

Unrealized

Cost

Fair Value

Losses

Fair Value

Losses

Fair Value

Losses

126,623

126,152

(471)

116,361

(296)

9,791

(175)

Available-for-Sale Securities:
Corporate debt securities
Obligations of states, local, U.S. Sponsored
agencies, and political subdivisions

143,753

142,915

(837)

31,098

(233)

111,817

(604)

Agency mortgage-backed securities

136,125

134,568

(1,558)

127,177

(1,320)

7,391

(238)

Total

406,501

403,635

(2,866)

274,636

(1,849)

128,999

(1,017)

As of December 31, 2016
Less Than 12 Months Greater Than 12 Months

Amortized
$

Cost

Fair Value

212,245
94,355

Gross

Gross

Gross

Unrealized

Unrealized

Unrealized

Losses

Fair Value

Losses

Fair Value

Losses

206,461

(5,783)

206,461

(5,783)

–

–

90,450

(3,905)

90,450

(3,905)

–

–

556,045

538,514

(17,531)

510,202

(15,056)

28,312

(2,475)

agencies, and political subdivisions

1,108,679

1,083,476

(25,203)

1,083,476

(25,203)

–

–

Agency mortgage-backed securities

124,846

124,159

(688)

122,613

(653)

1,546

(35)

2,096,170

2,043,060

(53,110)

2,013,202

(50,600)

29,858

(2,510)

Available-for-Sale Securities:
Obligation of U.S. government
Non-U.S. government debt securities
Corporate debt securities
Obligations of states, local, U.S. Sponsored

Total
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The number of available-for-sale securities with unrealized losses were 26 and 93 at December 31, 2017 and
2016, respectively. The unrealized losses associated
with available-for-sale securities are related to changes
in interest rates and do not affect the expected cash
flows of the underlying collateral or issuer. The decline
in fair value at December 31, 2017 and 2016, below
the amortized cost of the investments is deemed to be
temporary because the Bank does not have the intent
to sell nor is it probable that the Bank will be forced
to sell such securities. In addition, there has been no
credit impairment noted. The Bank considered all available evidence to evaluate the realizable value of its
investments, including factors, such as the associated
credit risk, interest rate, and prepayment risk.
The amortized cost and fair value of securities at
December 31, 2017 and 2016, by contractual maturity,
are shown below. Expected maturities may differ from
contractual maturities because borrowers may have
the right to call or prepay obligations with or without
call or prepayment penalties.

Proceeds from sales of available-for-sale securities
during the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016,
were approximately $44,300 and $572,841, respectively.
During the years ended December 31, 2017 and
2016, net (losses)/gains of approximately $(65) and
$36,916 respectively, were recorded on sales of securities and are included in net gain on securities transactions in the consolidated statements of income. During the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016,
net (losses) from other-than-temporary impairment of
available-for-sale securities of approximately $0 and
$(4,313), respectively, are included in net gain on securities transactions in the consolidated statements of
income.
A summary of available-for-sale securities and heldto-maturity securities pledged as collateral for credit
lines and securities transactions is as follows:
Pledged at FRBNY,
FHLBNY and other
financial institutions

Securities at December 31, 2017
$

Held-toAmortized Cost

Available-

Fair Value

Available-for-Sale Securities:
Due in one year or less
Due after one year through five years
Due after five years through ten years
Over ten years

Agency mortgage-backed securities
Total available-for-sale securities

for-sale
69,068

70,365

723,548

748,092

$

Agency mortgage-backed securities

at amor-

from

from

tized cost

FRBNY

FHLBNY

242,562

250,265

At 12/31/2017:

2,492,642

546

–

–

1,815,161

At 12/31/2016:

2,454,041

616

–

100,000

2,777,684

2,883,883

183,085

182,517

2,960,769

3,066,400

1,679

1,850

1,679

1,850

Amortized Cost

Fair Value

Securities at December 31, 2016
$

Securities,
at fair value

1,742,506

Held-to-Maturity Securities:

Total held-to-maturity securities

Maturity
Securities, Borrowings Borrowings

7. TRADING SECURITIES
During the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016,
trading securities gains were approximately $48,815
and $28,206, respectively, included in net gain on
securities transactions in the consolidated statements
of income.
A summary of trading securities at December 31,
2017 and 2016, is as follows:

Available-for-Sale Securities:
Due in one year or less

99,678

100,026

$

2017

2016

Due after one year through five years

746,761

731,307

Obligation of U.S. government

34,830

16,019

Due after five years through ten years

169,940

171,963

Corporate debt securities

49,991

47,371

Over ten years

Agency mortgage-backed securities
Total available-for-sale securities

1,820,446

1,807,817

Equities

2,836,825

2,811,113

Total trading securities

282,065

283,713

3,118,890

3,094,826

2,183

2,436

2,183

2,436

Held-to-Maturity Securities:
Agency mortgage-backed securities
Total held-to-maturity securities

7,253

6,914

92,074

70,304

At December 31, 2017, SSL pledged Obligation of U.S.
government of $19,979 with its clearing organizations
for the conduct of its day-to-day clearing activities.
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8. LOANS
A summary of the composition of the loan portfolio at
December 31, 2017 and 2016, is as follows:

As of December 31, 2017
$
Facility
Risk Grade

$

2017

2016

Commercial and industrial:
Domestic
Foreign
Total commercial and industrial
Individuals
Foreign banks
Total loans

1,691,784 1,592,015
1,041,731

915,426

2,733,515 2,507,441
229,289

260,645

–

3,274

1– 6

Commercial & Industrial

Indivi-

Foreign

Foreign

duals

Banks

646,976 1,163,748

49,910

Domestic

Total

– 1,860,634

7

68,890

–

–

–

68,890

8

–

–

–

–

–

9

3,062

3,062

–

–

–

10

–

–

–

–

–

11

–

–

–

–

–

718,928 1,163,748

49,910

–

1,932,586

Total

2,962,804 2,771,360

Less:
Deferred loan fees and unearned discounts
Allowance for loan losses

1,235

2,123

25,782

25,810

$
Facility

Loans — net of allowance for loan losses,
deferred loan fees and unearned discounts

As of December 31, 2016

2,935,787 2,743,427

Risk Grade
1– 6

Commercial & Industrial

Indivi-

Foreign

Domestic

Foreign

duals

Banks

579,261

829,992

254,944

–

55,666

–

7

The Bank elected the fair value option for certain loans
with an aggregate outstanding principal balance of
$1,037,983 and $1,050,513 as of December 31, 2017
and 2016, respectively, and recorded these loans at
fair value of $1,030,218 and $1,045,161, as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, see Note 21.
A summary of loans not recorded at fair value before
allowance for loan losses, deferred loan fees and
unearned discounts classified by Facility Risk Grade
according to the Bank’s methodology as discussed in
Note 1 is as follows:

Total

3,274 1,667,471
–

55,666

8

–

–

–

–

–

9

3,062

–

–

–

3,062

10

–

–

–

–

–

11

–

–

–

–

–

582,323

885,658

254,944

Total

3,274 1,726,199

The maturities of the loan portfolio at December 31,
2017 and 2016 before allowance for loan losses, deferred loan fees and unearned discounts is summarized
as follows:
$

2017

2016

Three months or less

911,068

898,977

Over three months through 12 months

734,772

523,605

Over one year through three years

437,102

440,086

Over three years through five years

479,012

525,536

Over five years through 15 years

400,850

383,156

Total

2,962,804 2,771,360

At December 31, 2017, the Bank pledged $792,773 of
loans before allowance for loan losses, deferred loan fees
and unearned discounts, with the FRBNY and the FHLBNY.
At December 31, 2016, the Bank pledged $682,161 of
loans before allowance for loan losses, deferred loan
fees and unearned discounts, with the FRBNY.
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9. ALLOWANCE FOR LOAN AND OFF-BALANCE
SHEET COMMITMENT LOSSES
The change in the allowance for loan and off-balance
sheet commitment losses for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, was as follows:
LOANS
Commercial & Industrial
Foreign
$
Balance — December 31, 2015
Provisions (Reversals)
Write-offs
Loan recoveries
Balance — December 31, 2016
Provisions (Reversals)
Write-offs
Loan recoveries
Balance — December 31, 2017

Off-balance Sheet

Domestic

Foreign

Individuals

Banks

Total

Commitments

14,688

9,120

878

1,096

25,782

1,241

446

463

172

(1,081)

–

–

–

(3)

–

–

(3)

–

31

–

–

–

31

–

15,165

9,580

1,050

15

25,810

1,241

5,379

(5,413)

8

(15)

(41)

1,850

–

–

–

–

–

–

12

–

1

–

13

–

20,556

4,167

1,059

–

25,782

3,091

The allowance for off-balance sheet commitment losses is included in other liabilities on the consolidated
statements of financial condition.
The following table presents information about the
Bank’s impaired loans and loans that are past due and
on nonaccrual status, net of allowance for loan loss:

$

Past due 90 days or less and

Past due more than 90 days and

classified as nonaccrual status

classified as nonaccrual status

Impaired

Impaired

Non-impaired

Impaired

Non-impaired

loans

loans

loans

loans

loans

As of December 31, 2017

3,062

–

–

–

–

As of December 31, 2016

3,062

–

–

–

–

The following table presents average impaired loans
and related interest income, and interest forgone on
nonaccrual loans reported by the Bank:
Average recorded

Interest income

Interest

investment in

recognized on

foregone on

impaired loans

impaired loans

nonaccrual loans

For the year ended December 31, 2017

3,062

122

–

For the year ended December 31, 2016

3,062

260

–

$
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During the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016,
provision for credit losses of $1,809 and $0, respectively, were recorded. No specific reserves for impaired
loans were recorded during the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016.
The Bank does not collectively evaluate any specific
group of homogenous loans for impairment. In accordance with ASC 310-10-35, the Bank evaluated $3,062
of loans as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, for impairment on an individual basis. The Bank does not maintain any loan purchased with deteriorated credit as of
December 31, 2017 and 2016.
The Bank determined a commercial domestic loan of
$3,062 qualified as a TDR at December 31, 2017 and
2016. During the years ended December 31, 2017 and
2016, the Bank recognized interest income on this loan
aggregating $122 and $260, respectively. Under the
original terms of the loans, the Bank would have recognized interest income totaling $93 and $161, respectively. The Bank had no commitments to lend additional
funds to borrowers whose loans were subject to TDR
as of December 31, 2017 and 2016.
10. PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT
Premises and equipment at December 31, 2017 and
2016, included the following:
$
Land
Building and improvements
Furniture and equipment
Computer hardware and software
Artwork

2017

2016

5,235

5,235

35,811

30,501

9,645

8,606

18,695

17,526

3,420

3,412

72,806

65,280

amortization

41,556

38,600

Total premises and equipment, net

31,250

26,680

Less accumulated depreciation and

11. OTHER ASSETS
Other assets at December 31, 2017 and 2016, included the following:
$

2017

2016

Accounts receivable

18,352

18,619

Taxes receivable

13,911

4,650

Intangible assets, net

11,969

–

Goodwill

1,837

–

11,918

4,929

and clearing organizations

8,375

60,324

Receivable from customers

3,266

550

Other assets

3,892

8,213

73,520

97,285

Securities borrowed
Receivable from brokers, dealers

Total other assets

Amortization expense for the intangible assets, which
is included in other operating expenses in the consolidated statements of income, was approximately $657
and $0 in 2017 and 2016, respectively.
SSL borrows securities from other broker dealers to
fulfill short sales by customers and delivers cash to
the lender in exchange for securities. The fair value
of these borrowed securities, which can be rehypothecated, was $11,422 and $4,228, at December 31,
2017 and 2016, respectively.
12. GEOGRAPHIC CONCENTRATIONS
The following table classifies the international assets
(consisting primarily of loans, acceptances, overdrafts,
interest-bearing deposits, securities, derivative assets,
and cash and due from banks) of the Bank by region
of ultimate risk (excluding assets secured by cash
deposits):
December 31, 2017
Governmental

The related depreciation and amortization expense,
included in occupancy and other operating expenses in
the consolidated statements of income, was approximately $3,049 and $1,703 in 2017 and 2016, respectively.

$

ness and

Obligations Institutions

Individuals

Total

Western Europe
and Canada

982

1,263,861

60,277

1,325,120

67,364

324,759

68,732

460,855

Latin America

37,181

110,902

62,501

210,584

Other

88,441

81,367

100,242

270,050

193,968

1,780,889

291,752

2,266,609

Brazil
Other

Total
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At December 31, 2017 and 2016, certificates of deposit in denominations of $250,000 or more were
$3,964,290 and $3,452,647, respectively.

December 31, 2016
Govern-

Private Busi-

mental
$

Financial

ness and

Obligations Institutions

Individuals

Total

Western Europe
and Canada
Brazil

898

947,484

39,297

987,679

57,118

199,492

135,476

392,086

Other
Latin America

22,047

111,094

65,088

198,229

Other

58,215

183,029

55,559

296,803

Total

138,278

1,441,099

295,420

1,874,797

Substantially all of the Bank’s assets are denominated
in U.S. dollars.
13. DEPOSITS — LIABILITIES
Deposits — liabilities are summarized as follows:
$
Demand deposit — non-interest bearing
Money market
NOW and savings
Certificates of deposit

14. BORROWINGS
The balance of advances from FHLBNY which is included in borrowings on the consolidated statements
of financial condition, at December 31, 2017 and 2016
were $0 and $100,000, respectively. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Bank held $1,922 and
$6,839, respectively, of FHLBNY stock, recorded in
other assets on the consolidated statements of financial condition. The interest rate on the advance with
FHLBNY was 0.75% as of December 31, 2016 and it
matured in January 2017. Refer to Note 4 for overnight
borrowings with affiliates.
15. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES
The other operating expenses for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, are as follows:

2017

2016

2,337,484

2,501,227

185,615

88,029

$

2017

2016

58,965

44,773

Reserve for claims

(5,965)

16,000

Charitable contributions

10,331

10,332

6,901

5,864

958,012

995,373

Certificates of deposit — brokered

3,107,369

2,537,309

FDIC insurance premiums

Total deposits — liabilities

6,647,445

6,166,711

Other general operating

10,440

7,294

Total other operating expenses

21,707

39,490

The distribution of certificates of deposit by remaining
maturity was as follows:
$
Maturity in one year or less

2017

2016

3,894,749

3,416,526

157,140

101,143

16. INCOME TAXES
The components of the provision for income taxes for
the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, are as
follows:

Maturity in over one year through
three years
Maturity in over three years
Total

13,492

15,013

4,065,381

3,532,682

$

2016

12,480

19,392

(851)

4,687

300

300

11,929

24,379

26,019

2,665

5,980

472

Current tax expense (benefit):
Federal
State and city
Foreign

The aggregate amount of certificates of deposit, excluding certificates of deposit – brokered, with a denomination of one-hundred thousand dollars or more was
approximately $930,182 and $970,789 at December
31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. The Bank recorded
$13,746 and $721,707 of certificates of deposit at
fair value due to the fair value option election in accordance with ASC 825 as of December 31, 2017 and
2016, respectively. Refer to Note 21 for further details.

2017

Total current tax expense
Deferred tax expense:
Federal
State and city
Total deferred tax expense

31,999

3,137

Income taxes

43,928

27,516

Safra National Bank of New York, Annual Report 2017 | 53

Consolidated Financial Statements

The net deferred tax asset and liability at December 31,
2017 and 2016, were composed of the following:
$

2017

2016

7,542

10,674

–

5,422

235

6,353

Deferred tax assets:
Allowance for credit lossess
Fair value measurements
Contingency reserve
Depreciation and amortization

1,036

1,475

Charitable contributions

2,390

1,658

Accrued compensation

719

6,512

Accrued expenses

643

1,125

Unrealized losses included in
stockholders’ equity
Other
Total deferred tax assets

–

4,014

277

1,034

12,842

38,267

(13,949)

–

(7,952)

–

Deferred tax liabilities:
Fair value measurements
Unrealized gains included in
stockholders’ equity
Total deferred tax liabilities
Net deferred tax (liability) and asset

(21,901)

–

(9,059)

38,267

The Bank has determined that it is more likely than not
that the deferred tax assets will be fully realized and
therefore no valuation allowance against the deferred
tax assets is necessary.
The provision for income taxes varied from the federal
statutory income tax rate for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, as follows:
$
Taxes at federal statutory rate

2017

2016

55,608

30,096

2,685

State and city income taxes — net of
federal benefit

7,056

Bank owned life insurance

(755)

(739)

Municipal interest income

(6,091)

(5,508)

Dividend received deduction
(Reversal)/increase of UTB
State and city rate adjustment
Federal tax law changes

(705)

(697)

(5,977)

1,060

(13)

(137)

(4,018)

–

Other — net

(1,177)

756

Provision for income taxes

43,928

27,516
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Income taxes are provided for using the asset and liability method, which requires the recognition of deferred
tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax
consequences of events that have been included in the
consolidated financial statements.
In December 2017, President Trump signed into law
the tax legislation commonly known as the Tax Cuts
and Jobs Act (the “Act”). Generally, the Act reduces the
federal corporate tax rate to 21% from 35%, effective
January 1, 2018. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
have been adjusted to the new statutory tax rate as of
December 31, 2017 and the impact of this adjustment
for the year ended December 31, 2017 was a reduction
in net deferred tax liabilities, impacting the tax provision by $4,018.
On December 22, 2017, the SEC staff issued Staff
Accounting Bulletin 118 (“SAB 118”) which provides
guidance on accounting for the impact of the Act.
SAB 118 requires an entity to use a measurement
period, generally not to exceed 12 months, while it is
still analyzing the accounting associated with the Act.
Under SAB 118, for matters for which the accounting
related to the Act has not yet been completed, the Bank
has recognized provisional amounts to the extent that
they are reasonably estimable and the Bank will adjust
these amounts over time as more information becomes
available. The Bank continues to review its provisional
amounts including amounts related to the effect of
the rate changes on deferred tax assets and deferred
tax liabilities including the associated state and local
impact, state and local interpretation of the Act and
the impact of additional tax guidance and accounting
interpretations to the Act. Should adjustments be necessary, such adjustments will be reflected by the Bank
in the period that they are recognized.
The Bank recognizes interest and penalties related
to UTB within the income tax expense line in the
accompanying consolidated statements of income.
During 2017, a net decrease in interest of $3,433, was
recognized as it relates to UTB in the accompanying
consolidated statements of income. In addition, during
2017 the Bank decreased UTB by $3,177 as a result
of the settlement of state and local tax audits. The
cash settlement of $633 caused the Bank to recognize
$2,544 of benefits for the year ended December 31,
2017. During 2016, a net increase in interest of $367,
was recognized as it relates to UTB in the accompanying consolidated statements of income. The accrued
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interest as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 was $0
and $5,580, respectively, recognized in the consolidated statements of financial condition.
The Bank is subject to taxation in the U.S., New
York State, Florida and New York City. As of December
31, 2017, the Bank’s tax years after 2013 are subject to examination by the taxing authorities. Where
tax returns have not been filed the statute of limitation
remains open indefinitely.
Pursuant to a tax sharing agreement the Bank reimburses the Parent for all federal, state and city
taxes paid. As of December 31, 2017, the Bank had a
tax receivable of $13,911 and a tax liability of $152,
which are included in other assets and other liabilities,
respectively, in the consolidated statement of financial
condition. As of December 31, 2016, the Bank had a
tax receivable of $4,650 included in other assets, in
the consolidated statement of financial condition.
17. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS WITH
OFF-BALANCE SHEET RISK
Credit Related Instruments — The Bank enters into various types of agreements with its customers to enhance
their credit standing and guarantee performance to
third parties or advance funds in the form of loans.
These commitments usually have fixed expiration dates
and may require payment of a fee. At December 31,
2017 and 2016, such obligations included standby and
commercial letters of credit of approximately $42,560
and $37,352, respectively. These amounts represent
the maximum principal which the Bank may be required
to disburse and the maximum potential exposure if
all such obligations were ultimately to become worthless. The arrangements have credit risks essentially
the same as that involved in extending loans to customers and are subject to the normal credit policies of
the Bank. In addition, the Bank’s outstanding unfunded
lending commitments were approximately $55,790
and $61,786 at December 31, 2017 and 2016, re
spectively.
In connection with guarantees issued, substantially
all such items were collateralized by deposits or highly
liquid assets at December 31, 2017 and 2016.

18. CREDIT-RELATED RISK CONCENTRATIONS
In the normal course of its business, the Bank’s creditrelated risk concentrations as of December 31, 2017
and 2016, were as follows:
$

2017

2016

1,749,583

1,067,583

1,266,823

1,241,591

1,330,229

1,288,253

4,346,635

3,597,427

Credit exposure in deposits with foreign
banks, and branches and agencies of
domestic banks in the United States
of America
Credit exposure in assets of the
consolidated statements of financial
condition in:
The U.S. federal government
and its agencies
Real estate loan portfolio
Total

19. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
At December 31, 2017, the Bank was obligated under
non-cancelable leases for the Bank’s premises expiring
through July 2027. The leases contain renewal options
and escalation clauses.
Rental expense for 2017 and 2016 was $6,077 and
$5,297, respectively, included in occupancy expenses
in the consolidated statements of income. Minimum
rental commitments on leases as of December 31,
2017, were as follows:
Years Ending December 31,
$
2018

Amount

7,291

2019

7,240

2020

2,571

2021

2,571

Thereafter

13,059

Total

32,732

As of December 31, 2017, the Bank, as a lessor, had
signed a lease contract with a tenant expiring in the
year 2020. Rental income for 2017 and 2016 was $235
and $224, respectively, included in other income in the
accompanying consolidated statements of income. In
February 2018, the lease was amended and the expiration date was changed to December 31, 2018. The Bank,
as a lessor, did not sign new lease contracts in 2017.
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Certain premises held for the above lease at December 31, 2017 and 2016, included the following:
$
Land
Building and improvements

Less accumulated depreciation

2017

2016

5,235

5,235

6,851

6,778

12,086

12,013

(1,307)

(1,130)

10,779

10,883

Total land, building and
improvement, net

The Bank is a party to litigations involving various
aspects of its business. The Bank believes it has
strong defenses and, where appropriate, will vigorously
contest these matters. In accordance with applicable
accounting guidance, the Bank establishes accruals for litigations when those matters proceed to a
stage where they present loss contingencies that are
both probable and estimable. The Bank will continue
to monitor such matters for developments that could
affect the amount of the accrual, and will adjust the
accrual amount as appropriate. During the year ended
December 31, 2017, the Bank settled claims for an
amount less than the liability, which had been previously accrued. Expense relating to these accruals and
reversals are included in other operating expenses on
the consolidated statements of income.
In the normal course of business, SSL may enter into
contracts that contain various guarantees and indemnities including contracts where it executes, as agent or
principal, transactions on behalf of customers. If the
transactions brokered by SSL do not settle because of
failure to perform by either counterparty, SSL may be
required to discharge the obligation of the nonperforming party and, as a result, may incur a loss if the market
value of the underlying security is different from the
contract amount of the transaction. SSL has the right
to pursue collection or performance from the counterparties who do not perform under their contractual obligations.
20. REGULATORY MATTERS
The Bank, as a national bank, is subject to the dividend restrictions set forth by the OCC. Under such
restrictions, a bank may not, without the prior approval
of the OCC, declare dividends in excess of the sum
of the current year’s earnings (as defined) plus the
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retained earnings (as defined) from the prior two years.
In accordance with the aforementioned criteria, the
Bank had the ability to declare dividends without the
OCC’s approval up to $188,462 and $99,797 as of
December 31, 2017, and 2016 respectively. In accordance with this, the Bank declared and paid dividends
of $5,000 and $5,000 during the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
The Bank is subject to various regulatory capital
requirements administered by federal banking agencies. Failure to meet minimum capital requirements
can initiate certain mandatory, and possible additional
discretionary actions by regulators that, if undertaken,
could have a direct material effect on the Bank’s consolidated financial statements. Under capital adequacy
guidelines and the regulatory framework for prompt
corrective action, the Bank must meet specific capital guidelines that involve quantitative measures of
the Bank’s assets, liabilities, and certain off-balancesheet items as calculated under regulatory accounting
practices. The Bank’s capital amounts and classification are also subject to qualitative judgments by the
regulators about components, risk weightings, and
other factors.
Quantitative measures established by regulation to
ensure capital adequacy require the Bank to maintain
minimum amounts and ratios (set forth in the following table) of Common equity Tier 1 capital, and Tier 1
risk-based capital, Total risk-based capital, and Tier 1
leverage ratios (as defined in the regulations). Events
beyond management’s control, such as deterioration in
credit markets, could adversely affect future earnings
and the Bank’s ability to meet future capital requirements. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Bank
meets all capital adequacy requirements to which it is
subject.
As of December 31, 2017, the most recent notification from the OCC categorized the Bank as well capitalized under the regulatory framework for prompt corrective action. To be categorized as well capitalized,
the Bank must maintain minimum or exceed Common
equity Tier 1 capital, Tier 1 risk-based capital, Total
risk-based capital, and Tier 1 leverage ratios as set
forth in the table. There are no conditions or events
since that notification that management believes have
changed the Bank’s category.
The Bank’s actual capital amounts and ratios are
presented in the following table.
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To be Well Capitalized

Actual

For Capital

Under Prompt Corrective

Adequacy Purposes

Action Provisions

Amount ($)

Ratio (%)

Amount ($)

Ratio (%)

Amount ($)

Ratio (%)

Total capital (to risk-weighted assets)

649,177

15.87

327,176

8.0

408,970

10.0

Tier 1 capital (to risk-weighted assets)

620,303

15.17

245,382

6.0

327,176

8.0

Common Equity Tier 1 capital (to risk-weighted assets)

620,303

15.17

184,037

4.5

265,831

6.5

Tier 1 capital (to average assets)

620,303

7.94

312,656

4.0

390,820

5.0

10.0

As of December 31, 2017:

As of December 31, 2016:
Total capital (to risk-weighted assets)

571,832

14.6

312,691

8.0

390,863

Tier 1 capital (to risk-weighted assets)

544,781

13.9

234,518

6.0

312,691

8.0

Common Equity Tier 1 capital (to risk-weighted assets)

544,781

13.9

175,888

4.5

254,061

6.5

Tier 1 capital (to average assets)

544,781

7.2

302,351

4.0

377,939

5.0

SSL is subject to the SEC Uniform Net Capital Rule
pursuant to Rule 15c3-1 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Effective July 15, 2016, FINRA
required SSL to use the alternate method under Rule
15c3-1, which requires SSL to maintain minimum net
capital, as defined, of $250 or 2% of aggregate debit
items arising from customer transactions, as defined.
The table summarizes the minimum capital requirements and excess capital for SSL at December 31,
2017 and 2016:
$
Required net capital

2017

2016

465

287

Net capital

148,344

120,614

Excess net capital

147,879

120,327

On December 10, 2013, the Federal Reserve Board,
Securities & Exchange Commission, OCC, FDIC, and
Commodity Futures Trading Commission released final
rules implementing the Volcker Rule, a part of the DoddFrank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act
(“Volcker Rule”). The implementing regulation for the
Volcker Rule became effective on April 1, 2014 with
a conformance period that ran through July 21, 2015.
The Volcker Rule was designed to prohibit banks from
engaging in proprietary trading and owning or engaging in certain transactions with hedge funds or private
equity funds. Under the Volcker Rule, certain activities
may be permitted to continue (e.g. U.S. government,

agency, state, and municipal obligations, exemptions
available for market making, underwriting, and risk
mitigating/hedging activities), although under new,
restrictive definitions. As required by the regulation,
the Bank had conducted a business assessment of its
operations that are potentially subject to Volcker Rule
restrictions, evaluating the impact of these restrictions
on its operations. The Bank is in compliance with the
Volcker Rule at December 31, 2017.
21. DISCLOSURES ABOUT FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The following disclosure of the fair value of financial
instruments is made in accordance with the requirements of ASC 825 and ASC 820.
ASC 820 offers enhanced guidance for using fair
value to measure assets and liabilities. It provides a
single definition of fair value, together with a framework for measuring it, and requires additional disclosure about the use of fair value to measure assets and
liabilities. It defines the fair value of a financial instrument as the amount that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement
date (the exit price). Instruments that the Bank owns
(long positions) are marked to bid prices. Fair value
measurements do not include transaction costs. ASC
820 establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes
the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure
fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to

Safra National Bank of New York, Annual Report 2017 | 57

Consolidated Financial Statements

unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and
the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements). Any transfers between levels are recorded
at the value as of the beginning of the reporting period.
The three broad levels of the fair value hierarchy under
ASC 820 are described below:
Level 1 Inputs — Unadjusted quoted market prices in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the
reporting entity has the ability to access at the measurement date. Valuation of these assets and liabilities
does not entail a significant degree of judgment. Examples of financial instruments with such inputs include
certain U.S. Government securities and exchangetraded equity securities.
Level 2 Inputs — Inputs other than quoted prices
included within Level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. Examples
of financial instruments with such inputs include U.S.
Agency securities, municipal bonds, deposits, corporate bonds, certain mortgage-backed securities, overthe-counter derivatives (e.g. Interest rate swaps and
foreign exchange contracts), and certain sovereign
bonds.
Level 3 Inputs — Unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability rely on management’s own assumptions which
are assumptions that management determines market
participants would use in pricing the asset or liability.
The unobservable inputs should be developed based
on the best information available in the circumstances
and may include the Bank’s own data. An example of
financial instruments with such inputs is loans.

Securities
The fair value of securities is based on quoted market
prices. In the absence of quoted market prices, fair
value is determined by pricing vendors using models
which discount the future cash flows to their present
value using current rates at which similar securities
would be bought with similar credit ratings and for
the same remaining maturities, or similar techniques.
These models use inputs that are observable for substantially the full term of the security, inputs that are
derived principally from or corroborated by observable
market data through correlation or other means for
substantially the full term of the security or internally
developed assumptions.
The following table describes the valuation methodologies used by the Bank to measure its securities at
fair value:
Classifications in the
Securities

Valuation

Type

Valuations

Hierarchy

Equities

Actively traded and valued using the

Level 1

and money

exchange price

market
funds
Debt

Quoted market prices are used where

Securities

available

Debt

In the absence of quoted market prices, fair Level 2 or 3

Securities

value is determined by pricing vendors using
models which discount the future cash flows
to their present value using current rates
at which similar securities would be bought
with similar credit ratings and for the same
remaining maturities, or similar techniques.
In certain instances unobservable inputs are

The following methods and assumptions were used to
calculate the fair value of each class of financial instruments for which it is practicable to calculate that value.
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used (those would be Level 3)

Level 2
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Loans
The fair value of loans is calculated by using a discounted cash flow model (“DCF”). For loans measured
at fair value in the accompanying consolidated statements of financial condition, the fair value approximates the amount that would be received to sell the
loan (exit price). The DCF uses inputs that are observable either directly or indirectly for substantially the
full term of the loan, such as interest rates as well as
internally developed assumptions, such as credit risk
and liquidity premium. Credit risk is included as part
of the valuation process by considering expected rates
of return for market participants for similar loans in
the marketplace. For loans not measured at fair value,
on a recurring basis, in the accompanying consolidated statements of financial condition, the fair value
approximates the amount that similar loans would be
made to borrowers with similar credit ratings and for
the same remaining maturities (entry price). The fair
value of impaired loans is determined by discounting
expected future cash flows of principal and interest,
and any costs to sell the related collateral upon foreclosure. The DCF uses inputs that are observable either
directly or indirectly for substantially the full term of the
loan, such as interest rates.
Deposit Liabilities
The fair value of demand deposits, savings accounts, and
certain money market deposits approximate the carrying
value as they are equal to the amount payable on demand
at the reporting date including interest. For time deposits
measured at fair value in the accompanying consolidated
statements of financial condition, the fair value approximates the amount that would be transferred with similar
credit ratings and for the same remaining maturities (exit
price). The fair value is calculated by using pricing models discounting the required future cash outflows to their
present value using current inputs that are observable
either directly or indirectly for substantially the full term
of the deposit, such as interest rates as well as internally

developed assumptions, such as the Bank’s own credit
risk. For time deposits not measured at fair value, on a
recurring basis, in the accompanying consolidated statements of financial condition, the fair value approximates
the amount that similar deposits would be obtained for
the same remaining maturities (entry price). The fair
value is calculated by using pricing models discounting
the required future cash outflows to their present value
using current inputs that are observable either directly
or indirectly for substantially the full term of the deposit,
such as interest rates.
Interest Rate Swaps and Caps
The fair value of interest rate swaps and caps are determined using a discounted cash flows pricing model
with assumptions such as yield curves and discount
rates with inputs that are observable either directly or
indirectly for substantially the full term of the interest
rate swap and caps.
Foreign Exchange Contracts
The fair value of foreign exchange forward contracts is
based on current market quotations for similar agreements at the reporting date, taking into account current
interest rates, foreign exchange rates, and the current
creditworthiness of the counterparties.
Commercial and Standby Letters of Credit
and Bankers Acceptances
The fair value of letters of credit and bankers acceptances, based on the estimated cost to terminate
them or otherwise settle the obligations with the counterparties was not material at December 31, 2017 and
2016.
The following table presents financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis, including instruments for which the Bank has elected the fair
value option, classified according to ASC 820 valuation
hierarchy, as of December 31, 2017 and 2016:
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Financial Assets and Liabilities at Fair Value as of December 31, 2017
$

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

24,912

–

–

24,912

–

35,031

–

35,031

ASSETS

Short-term investments:
Money market fund
Obligations of U.S. Government to be segregated under federal or other regulations
Available-for-sale securities:
Obligations of U.S. Government

–

411,783

–

411,783

Non-U.S. government debt securities

–

159,647

–

159,647

Corporate debt securities

–

733,133

–

733,133

Obligations of states, local and political subdivisions

–

1,579,320

–

1,579,320

Agency mortgage-backed securities

–

182,517

–

182,517

–

3,066,400

–

3,066,400

–

34,830

–

34,830
49,991

Trading securities:
Obligations of U.S. Government
Corporate debt securities

–

49,991

–

7,253

–

–

7,253

7,253

84,821

–

92,074

–

–

1,030,218

1,030,218

Foreign exchange

–

30,202

–

30,202

Interest rate swaps and caps

–

35,772

–

35,772

–

65,974

–

65,974

32,165

3,252,226

1,030,218

4,314,609

–

13,746

–

13,746

Equities

Loans
Derivative assets:

Total assets
LIABILITIES

Deposits — time deposits
Derivative liabilities:
Foreign exchange

–

42,106

–

42,106

Interest rate swaps and caps

–

58,505

–

58,505

–

100,611

–

100,611

–

114,357

–

114,357

Total liabilities
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Financial Assets and Liabilities at Fair Value as of December 31, 2016
$

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

–

29,010

–

29,010

–

379,324

–

379,324

ASSETS

Obligations of U.S. Government required to be segregated under federal or
other regulations
Available-for-sale securities:
Obligations of U.S. Government
Non-U.S. government debt securities

–

143,758

–

143,758

Corporate debt securities

–

794,238

–

794,238

Obligations of states, local and political subdivisions

–

1,493,793

–

1,493,793

Agency mortgage-backed securities

–

283,713

–

283,713

–

3,094,826

–

3,094,826

Obligations of U.S. Government

–

16,019

–

16,019

Corporate debt securities

–

47,371

–

47,371

Trading securities:

Equities

6,914

–

–

6,914

6,914

63,390

–

70,304

–

–

1,045,161

1,045,161

Foreign exchange

–

30,556

–

30,556

Interest rate swaps

–

44,241

–

44,241

–

74,797

–

74,797

6,914

3,233,013

1,045,161

4,314,098

–

721,707

–

721,707

–

17,236

–

17,236
56,155

Loans
Derivative assets:

Total assets
LIABILITIES

Deposits — time deposits
Derivative liabilities:
Foreign exchange
Interest rate swaps

Total liabilities

Certain financial assets and liabilities measured at
fair value on a nonrecurring basis are classified according to ASC 820 valuation hierarchy; however, the assets and liabilities not measured at fair value on an
ongoing basis, are subject to fair value adjustments in
certain circumstances, such as when there is evidence
of impairment. For the years ended December 31,
2017 and 2016, assets measured at fair value on a
nonrecurring basis were as follows:

–

56,155

–

–

73,391

–

73,391

–

795,098

–

795,098

Financial Assets at Fair Value as of December 31,
2017 and 2016
Total
Losses for
Fair

the Year

Value at

Ended
December

December
$

31,

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

31,

3,061

–

–

3,061

–

3,062

–

–

3,062

–

2017

Impaired
loans
2016

Impaired
loans
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Methods Used to Fair Value Level 3 Assets
The fair value for loans was measured using DCF with
contractual future cash flows, since all loans measured at fair value in the accompanying consolidated
statements of financial condition are performing loans.
The discount rate was derived from swap rates which
effectively converts the discount rate from a floating
rate over Libor to a fixed rate for the duration of the
loan; plus, the contractual spread over Libor for each
loan; plus a liquidity spread; and plus a spread adjustment reflecting current market conditions and the
resulting spreads as if the loan was to be effectuated
as of December 31, 2017 and 2016. The following
table presents the quantitative information about Level
3 fair value measurements as of December 31, 2017
and 2016:
Assets at December 31, 2017
Significant
Fair Value

Valuation

Unobservable

Range of

Weighted

$

Technique

Inputs

Inputs

Average

Discounted
Loans

1,030,218

cash flows

156 bps –
Credit spreads

256 bps

234 bps

275 bps

275 bps

Range of

Weighted

Inputs

Average

Discounted
Impaired loans

3,061

cash flows

Credit spreads

Fair Value

Valuation

Unobservable

Technique

Inputs

Assets at December 31, 2016
Significant

$

Discounted
Loans

1,045,161

cash flows

175 bps –
Credit spreads

350 bps

248 bps

Credit spreads

275 bps

275 bps

Discounted
Impaired loans
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3,062

cash flows
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The following table presents detailed changes in the
Bank’s Level 3 financial assets and liabilities at fair
value that occurred during 2017 and 2016:
Level 3 — Financial Asset and Liabilities for Years Ended
$
BALANCE — December 31, 2015

Loans
961,534

Net realized/unrealized losses
(included in net loss on fair value measurements)
Issuances
Settlements
BALANCE — December 31, 2016

(20,239)
249,503
(145,637)
1,045,161

Net realized/unrealized losses
(included in net gain on fair value measurements)
Issuances
Settlements
BALANCE — December 31, 2017

(2,412)
124,748
(137,279)
1,030,218

Changes in unrealized loss related to assets
held at December 31, 2017

(2,430)

There were no transfers between Level 1, Level 2 and
Level 3 for the years ended December 31, 2017 and
2016.
Fair Value Option
The Bank elected to account for some fixed-rate loans
at fair value under the provisions of ASC 825. These
loans are economically hedged by certain derivatives in
accordance with the Bank’s risk management policies.
The election of the fair value option intends to align the
accounting for these loans with the related economic
hedges. The Bank has not elected the fair value option
for the remainder of the loan portfolio as these loans
are not economically hedged.
Loans for which the fair value option have been
elected had an aggregate fair value of $1,030,218 and
$1,045,161, and an aggregate outstanding principal
balance of $1,037,983 and $1,050,513 at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, and were included in loans in the consolidated statements of financial condition. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016,
the Bank had no loans recorded at fair value that were
classified as nonaccrual and/or past due. Accrued
interest receivable of $1,986 and $1,793 at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, were included

in the aggregate fair value of the loans recorded at
fair value. Interest revenue arising from these loans is
included in interest income on the consolidated statements of income. All up-front fees, costs, premiums
and discounts related to these loans are recognized in
interest income as incurred and not deferred. An allowance for loan loss is not applied to these loans. Net
(losses) resulting from changes in fair value of these
loans of $(2,604) and $(20,434) were included in net
gain/(loss) on fair value measurements in the consolidated statements of income at December 31, 2017
and 2016, respectively. Changes in fair value due to
instrument specific credit risk for the year 2017 and
2016 were not material. The changes in fair value of
these loans were partially offset by changes in the fair
value of the related financial derivatives that economically hedged these loans and both were recorded in net
gain/(loss) on fair value measurements on the consolidated statements of income.
The Bank also elected to account for certain longterm time deposits at fair value under the provisions of
ASC 825, which are economically hedged using derivatives. The Bank has not elected the fair value option
for the remainder of the time deposit portfolio as they
are not hedged.
Time deposits for which the fair value option has
been elected had an aggregate fair value of $13,746
and $721,707 and an aggregate outstanding principal balance of $13,777 and $721,292 at December
31, 2017 and 2016, respectively and were included
in deposits in the consolidated statements of financial condition. Interest expense arising from these
deposits is included in the consolidated statements
of income as part of net interest expense. All up-front
fees, costs, premiums and discounts related to these
deposits are recognized in interest expense as incurred
and not deferred. Net gains resulting from changes in
fair value of these deposits of $31 and $2,275 were
included in net gain/(loss) on fair value measurements
in the consolidated statements of income for the years
ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
Changes in fair value due to instrument specific nonperformance risk for the years 2017 and 2016 were not
material. The changes in fair value of these deposits
were partially offset by changes in the fair value of the
related financial derivatives that economically hedged
these deposits.
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The following table presents financial assets and liabilities not recorded at fair value as required by ASC 825
and considered as Level 3, as of December 31, 2017
and 2016:
2017

$

2016

Carrying

Fair

Carrying

Fair

Amount

Value

Amount

Value

795,929

795,454

451,331

450,552

1,679

1,850

2,183

2,436

Financial

denominated in foreign currencies, and to facilitate
customer transactions. As of December 31, 2017 and
2016, the Bank was a party to foreign exchange swaps
to mitigate the effects of foreign exchange risk associated with corporate debt securities portfolios, with
notional amounts totaling $127,361 and $137,205,
respectively, with maturities ranging from November
2018 to September 2021, and from November 2017 to
September 2021, respectively.

assets:
Time deposits
Held-to-maturity
securities
Loans — net of
allowance for loan
losses and deferred loan fees
and unearned
discounts

1,905,569

1,926,722 1,698,266 1,699,443

Financial
liabilities:
Time deposits

4,051,635 4,065,664

2,810,975 2,854,129

The table above does not include the fair value of cash
and due from banks, interest-bearing deposits in banks
(except time deposits), securities purchased under
agreements to resell, demand deposits, money market, NOW, saving deposits, borrowings, securities sold
under agreements to repurchase, unsettled securities
purchased, acceptances outstanding, and accrued
interest receivable and payable because their carrying
amount approximates fair value due to their short-term
nature and frequent repricing. The Bank’s investment
in FRBNY and FHLBNY stocks are carried at par. For
such investments, carrying value approximates fair
value as the Bank can only sell such investment to the
issuer at par value.
22. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Bank uses derivative financial instruments primarily to protect against interest rate, foreign exchange
rate, other market movement, and to fulfill clients’
requests.
Foreign Exchange Contracts
The Bank uses foreign exchange contracts as economic
hedges against fluctuations of assets and liabilities
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Interest Rate Swaps and Caps
The Bank uses interest rate swaps and caps to mitigate the effects of interest rate risks, associated
with the loans and securities portfolios and for certain time deposits. As of December 31, 2017 and
2016, the Bank was a party to interest rate swaps
and caps, with notional amounts totaling $3,279,302
and $3,806,325, respectively, and maturities ranging
from March 2018 to August 2045 and January 2017 to
August 2045, respectively. As of December 31, 2017
and 2016, the total notional amount outstanding consisted of $3,102,977 and $2,691,234, respectively, of
interest rate swaps used as economic hedges and of
$176,325 and $0, respectively, to fulfill clients’ needs.
As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, under the swap
agreements, the Bank paid a fixed rate ranging from
0.6% to 8.0% and 0.6% to 6.0%, respectively, or a variable rate ranging from one month to six-month LIBOR
rate and received a fixed rate ranging from 0.4% to
3.5% and 0.5% to 3.0%, respectively, or a variable rate
ranging from one month to six-month LIBOR rate. The
Bank did not apply hedge accounting, and did not elect
the fair value option for a certain securities portfolio for
which its interest rate risk is mitigated by such interest
rate swaps. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the
change in fair value of interest rate swaps mitigating
the interest rate risk of such securities, was recorded
as a net (loss)/gain of $(3,323) and $33,981, respectively, included in earnings. The change in fair value of
this securities portfolio, was recorded as an unrealized
gain/(loss) of $34,199 and $(57,151), respectively, in
OCI for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016.
Fair values of derivatives as of December 31, 2017
and 2016 are as follows:

Consolidated Financial Statements

Derivatives not Designated as Hedging Instruments Under ASC 815
As of December 31,

2017

2016

Consolidated

Fair

Consolidated

Fair

Statement of

Value

Statement of

Value

Financial Condition

$

Financial Condition

$

Derivative assets

30,718

Derivative assets

43,371

Gross asset derivatives:
Foreign exchange contracts
Foreign exchange contracts*

Derivative liabilities

Swaps and caps

Derivative assets

Total gross asset derivatives

5,553 Derivative liabilities
35,772

Derivative assets

72,043

3,203
44,241
90,815

Gross liability derivatives:
Foreign exchange contracts

Derivative liabilities

Foreign exchange contracts*

Derivative assets

Swaps and caps

Derivative liabilities

Total gross liability derivatives

47,659 Derivative liabilities
516

Derivative assets

58,505 Derivative liabilities
106,680

20,439
12,815
56,155
89,409

* Derivative instruments within this category are subject to master netting agreements and are presented on a net basis in the consolidated statements of financial
condition in accordance with ASC 210-20-45.

Effective in the first quarter of 2017, the Chicago Mercantile Exchange amended its rulebook for cleared OTC
derivatives, resulting in the characterization of variation
margin transfers as settlement payments as opposed
to cash posted as collateral.
The following amounts represent interest expense
and unrealized gains/(losses) on derivative transactions, and are recorded in net gain/(loss) on fair value
measurements and net gain on foreign currency valuation on securities, derivatives and interest-bearing
deposits with banks on the consolidated statements
of income:
Amount of Gain/(Loss) Recognized in Consolidated
Statements of Income
$

2017

2016

(17,732)

(30,359)

(1,752)

39,953

4,978

73

(14,506)

9,667

Derivatives
Interest income/(expense)
on interest rate swaps — net
Unrealized loss (gain)
on interest rate swaps — net
Unrealized/realized gain foreign
exchange contracts — net
Total
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The following table presents, as of December 31, 2017
and 2016, the fair value of gross and net derivative
assets and liabilities for which netting is permissible
under ASC 210-20-45, Balance Sheet Offsetting, or ASC
815-10-45, Derivatives and Hedging – Balance Sheet
Netting.
2017

$

2016

Derivative

Derivative

Derivative

Derivative

Assets

Liabilities

Assets

Liabilities

33,254

Gross derivative assets/liabilities:
Foreign exchange contracts

36,271

48,175

46,574

Swaps and caps

35,772

58,505

44,241

56,155

72,043

106,680

90,815

89,409

(12,815)

Total gross derivative assets/liabilities
Amounts netted on the consolidated statements of financial condition:
Foreign exchange contracts – derivative assets

(516)

(516)

(12,815)

(5,553)

(5,553)

(3,203)

(3,203)

Total amounts netted on the consolidated statements of financial condition

(6,069)

(6,069)

(16,018)

(16,018)

Net derivative assets/liabilities in the consolidated statements of financial condition

65,974

100,611

74,797

73,391

Foreign exchange contracts – derivative liabilities

Amounts not netted on the consolidated statements of financial condition:
Cash collateral received/(posted)

5,470

–

24,405

–

Securities purchased under agreements to resell

–

–

–

–

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase

–

–

–

–

Foregin exchange contracts

30,718

47,659

43,371

20,439

Swaps and caps

35,772

58,505

44,241

56,155

The Bank is required to pledge assets under a bilateral
margin arrangement, including either cash or agency
residential mortgage-backed securities, as collateral for
its foreign exchange contracts and interest rate swaps,
whose collateral requirements vary by counterparty and
change over time based on the market value, notional
amount, and remaining term of the derivative agreements (“Derivatives”). In the event the Bank is unable to
meet a margin call under one of its Derivatives, thereby
causing an event of default or triggering an early termination event under one of its Derivatives, the counterparty
to such Derivatives may have the option to terminate all
of such counterparty’s outstanding Derivatives with the
Bank. In addition, under this scenario, any closed-out
amount due to the counterparty upon termination of the
counterparty’s transactions would be immediately payable by the Bank pursuant to the applicable agreement.
The Bank was in compliance with all margin requirements under its Derivatives as of December 31, 2017
and 2016. The Bank had received $5,470 and $24,405,
respectively, as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 related
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to margin for foreign exchange contracts and interest
rate swaps, which is included in money market, NOW,
and savings in the accompanying consolidated statements of financial condition.
The use of foreign exchange contracts and interest
rate swaps exposes the Bank to counterparty credit
risks in the event of a default by a Derivative counterparty. If a counterparty defaults under the applicable
Derivative agreement, the Bank may be unable to collect payments to which it is entitled under its Derivative agreements, and may have difficulty collecting the
assets it pledged as collateral against such Derivative.
The Bank currently has in place with all outstanding
Derivative counterparties bilateral margin agreements
thereby requiring a party to post collateral to the Bank
for any valuation deficit. This arrangement is intended
to limit the Bank’s exposure to losses in the event of
a counterparty default. The Bank also has valid master
netting agreements in place with Derivative counterparties, which allow payables and receivables to settle
with a net payment.

Consolidated Financial Statements

23. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS
The Bank sponsors a multiemployer profit-sharing con
tribution plan covering substantially all its employees.
Profit sharing expense included on the consolidated
statements of income in salaries and employee benef its expenses for the years ended December 31, 2017
and 2016, were approximately $1,914 and $1,718,
respectively.
24. CUSTODY SERVICES
The Bank provides custody services to its customers
related to domestic and foreign fixed income instruments, equities, mutual and hedge funds. The market
value of assets under custody was $13,475,829 and
$9,883,385 at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. These items are not included in the consolidated

statements of financial condition, since such items
are not assets of the Bank. These instruments are not
FDIC insured and are held on behalf of customers, who
bear all risks. Custody fee revenue, included in fees
and service charges in the consolidated statements of
income, was $16,597 and $13,456 for the years ended
December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
25. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
For the year ended December 31, 2017, the Bank evalua ted subsequent events for the consolidated financial statements. There were no subsequent events
through March 16, 2018, the date the consolidated
financial statements were available to be issued, that
would require recognition or disclosure in the consolidated financial statements.
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United States | New York | East River

Locations and
Affiliates
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Locations and Affiliates

Headquarters
546 Fifth Avenue
New York, NY, 10036
+1 (212) 704 5500
Member Federal Reserve System
Member Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation

Branch Office

Subsidiary

Aventura
3050 Aventura Boulevard
Aventura, FL, 33180
+1 (305) 682 3800

Safra Securities LLC
546 Fifth Avenue
New York, NY, 10036
+1 (212) 704 5617
Member Financial Industry Regulatory Authority

Representative Offices
Brazil
Avenida Paulista, 2100
Sao Paulo, SP, Brazil - 01310-930
+55 (11) 3175-9911
Chile
Edificio Millenium,
Vitacura 2939, Piso 25 Oficina 2501
Santiago, Chile
+56 (2) 32 733 100
Mexico
Edificio Forum,
Andres Bello 10, Piso 19
11520, México D. F., México
+52 (55) 5279 4880

Member Securities Investor Protection Corporation

Affiliates
J. Safra Asset Management Corporation
546 Fifth Avenue
New York, NY, 10036
+1 (212) 704 5553
SNB Servicios (Uruguay) S.A.
World Trade Center
Avenida Luis Alberto de Herrera, 1248 Oficina 2304
11300, Montevideo, Uruguay
+598 (2) 624-5552

Panama
Torre Bicsa
Avenida Balboa y Calle Aquilino de La Guardia, Piso 39
Panama, Republica de Panama
+50 (7) 380 7025
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